# MOJAVE AIR AND SPACE PORT

# REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Date: March 1, 2022 Time: 2:00 p.m.

**Zoom Video Conference** 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88979840593?pwd=UWxUcHlRVkM1aDdnUHA1cWR0VFFMUT09

Phone: 669 900 9128 Meeting ID: 889 7984 0593 Passcode: 277366

# **AGENDA**

# 1. Call to Order

- A. Pledge of Allegiance
- B. Roll Call
- C. Approval of Agenda

# 2. Community Announcements

Members of the audience may make announcements regarding community events.

# 3. Consent Agenda

All items on the consent agenda are considered routine and non-controversial and will be approved by one motion unless a member of the Board, staff, or public requests to move an item to Action Items.

- A. Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting February 15, 2022
- B. Check register dated February 23, 2022, \$70,548.80

#### 4. Action Items

- A. Adoption of Resolution Regarding Remote Meetings
- B. Resolution Amending The Employee Handbook
- C. Resolution Declaring Certain Property Surplus to the Needs of the District
- D. Society of Experimental Test Pilots (SETP) West Coast Symposium

# 5. Reports

- A. Financials
- B. Fire
- C. Security
- D. Facilities
- E. CEO/GM Report
- F. Board Committee
- G. Board of Directors: This portion of the meeting is reserved for board members to comment on items not on the agenda.

# 6. Public Comment on Items Not on the Agenda

Members of the public may make comments to the Board on items not on the agenda.

# 7. Closed Session

A. Real Property Negotiations (Govt Code 54956.8)

1. Property: APN #428-061-32, 9.17 Acres

Parties: MASP, Roy E. Klegar Trust Negotiator: CEO. General Counsel

Terms: Purchase

2. Property: APN #428-220-04, 3.66 Acres

Parties: MASP, Donald M Dyas, Jr. Negotiator: CEO. General Counsel

Terms: Purchase

B. Potential Threats to Public Services (Govt Code 54957)

Consultation with CEO, General Counsel, Security Chief, Security Consultant

#### 8. Closed Session Report

#### Adjournment

This Agenda was posted on, February 25, 2022, by Jason Buck.

Due to the COVID-19 state of emergency, the Board of Directors will conduct this meeting via Zoom Video Conference. A physical location will not be available to the public. You may participate in the meeting by using the call in number specified in this Notice of Meeting or access the web page below. If you wish to speak to an item on the agenda, please inform the Board Chair when he asks for public comment. The Board's normal rules for public comment apply: speakers are limited to 3 minutes per item. You may also email comments to <a href="Lynn@mojaveairport.com">Lynn@mojaveairport.com</a> prior to the start of the meeting, and your comment(s) will be distributed to the directors at the meeting.

When joining the meeting via Zoom, you will need a microphone to participate in the discussion. Please keep your microphone on mute so the meeting does not pick up background noise, and "Unmute" to speak, or use the "Chat" option to type questions and comments. If you do not have a microphone, you'll need to call-in to participate in the discussion.

If you need special assistance to participate in the meeting, please contact Lynn at Lynn@mojaveairport.com, and the District will attempt to accommodate your need.

<u>ADA Notice</u>: Persons desiring disability-related accommodations should contact the District no later than forty-eight hours prior to the meeting. Persons needing an alternative format of the agenda because of a disability should notify the District no later than seventy-two hours prior to the meeting. All inquiries/requests can be made by phone at (661) 824-2433, in person at 1434 Flightline, Mojave, CA, or via email to carrie@mojaveairport.com.

<u>Copy of Records</u>: Copies of public records related to open session items are available at the administrative office of the District at 1434 Flightline, Mojave, CA.

<u>Public Comments:</u> Members of the public may comment on items on the agenda before the Board takes action on that item, or for closed session items, before the Board goes into closed session. Comments on items not on the agenda, and over which the Board has jurisdiction, may be made under "Public Comments on Items not on the Agenda," but the Board may not take action on any issues raised during this time. All comments by members of the public are limited to three minutes.

# **MISSION STATEMENT**

FOSTER AND MAINTAIN OUR RECOGNIZED AEROSPACE PRESENCE WITH A
PRINCIPLE FOCUS AS THE WORLD'S PREMIER CIVILIAN AEROSPACE TEST CENTER
WHILE SEEKING COMPATIBLY DIVERSE BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY

# **BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

# MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING ON FEBRUARY 15, 2022.

# 1. CALL TO ORDER

The meeting was called to order on Tuesday, February 15, 2022, at 2:01 p.m. by Director Morgan.

**A. Pledge of Allegiance:** CEO Lindner led those assembled in the Pledge of Allegiance.

#### B. Roll Call:

Directors present via zoom and in person: Balentine, Coleman, Deaver, Morgan Directors absent: Barney

Others present: CEO Lindner, and District Counsel Navé.

**B. Approval of Agenda:** Upon motion by Director Deaver, seconded by Director Coleman, The Board unanimously approved the agenda.

# 2. COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS

Mojave Fitness Center made an announcement for the airport employees gym membership promotion.

# 3. CONSENT AGENDA

Upon motion by Director Balentine, seconded by Director Coleman, the Board unanimously approved the Consent Agenda.

- A. Minutes of the Regular Board Meeting February 1, 2022
- B. Check Register dated February 9, 2022, \$80,000.00

#### 4. ACTION ITEMS

No Action Items

# 5. REPORTS

#### A. CEO/GM Report

CEO Linder gave his report and updated the Board on all upcoming events and ongoing projects.

#### E. Board Committees

Director Morgan and Director Coleman had a meeting to discuss the MASP Logo, but did not, yet, have a specific recommendation.

#### **B.** Board of Directors

There were no comments

#### 6. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA

There were no comments.

# 7. CLOSED SESSION

A. Real Property Negotiations (Govt Code 54956.8)

1. Property: APN #428-061-32, 9.17 Acres

Parties: MASP, Roy E. Klegar Trust Negotiator: CEO. General Counsel

Terms: Purchase

2. Property: APN #428-220-04, 3.66 Acres

Parties: MASP, Donald M Dyas, Jr. Negotiator: CEO. General Counsel

Terms: Purchase

# **8. CLOSED SESSION REPORT**

In closed session the board, CEO and Counsel discussed the real property negotiations listed on the agenda, the board gave certain direction to the CEO.

#### **ADJOURNMENT**

There being no	further business	to c	come before	the	Board,	the	chair	adjourned	the	meeting
at 3:00 p.m.										

ATTEST	Diane Barney, President
Jimmy Balentine, Secretary	

Wednesday, February 23, 2022 12:51PM Date:

Time: CPANKO User:

# **Mojave Air & Space Port**

# **Check Register - Standard**

Period: 09-22 As of: 2/23/2022

1 of 1 Page: Report: Company: MASP

03630.rpt

Check Nbr	Check Type	Check Date	Vendor ID Vendor Name	Period To Post Closed	Ref Nbr	Doc Type	Invoice Number	Invoice Date	Discount Taken	Amount Paid
Company:	MAS	P								
Acct / Sub:	101000		1200							
061950	CK	3/1/2022	1314 Mead & Hunt	09-22	050210	VO	328305/TWY C	2/20/2022	0.00	16,792.88
061951	СК	3/1/2022	1314 Mead & Hunt	09-22	050211	VO	327885/RWY 1230	2/16/2022	0.00	30,876.62
061952	СК	3/1/2022	1314 Mead & Hunt	09-22	050219	VO	327886/GA DRAIN	2/16/2022	0.00	22,879.30
Check Count:		3						Acct Sub Total:		70,548.80
				Check Type		Count	Amount Paid			
				Regular		3	70,548.80			
				Hand		0	0.00			
				Electronic Payment		0	0.00			
				Void		0	0.00			
				Stub		0	0.00			
				Zero		0	0.00			
				Mask		0	0.00			
				Total:		3	70,548.80			
					Company D	isc Total	0.00	Company Total		70,548.80



# **STAFF MEMORANDUM**

**TO:** Board of Directors

**FROM:** Scott Nave

**SUBJECT:** AB 361 Remote Meeting Resolution

**MEETING DATE:** March 1, 2022

# **Background:**

The Governor's executive order suspending certain requirements of the Brown Act regarding board meetings has expired, but the proclamation of a state of emergency is still in place. The Legislature has amended Govt Code 54953 to include provisions allowing remote meetings during a state of emergency under certain conditions. The attached resolution allows the Board to continue meeting remotely until the state of emergency is lifted and social distancing is no longer recommended or required. If the Board adopts the resolution, it will have to renew the resolution every 30 days.

#### **Impacts:**

Fiscal: None

Environmental: This action does not constitute a project and is not subject to CEQA

Legal: None

#### **Recommended Action:**

The Board has two options:

- 1. The Board may adopt the resolution and continue with remote meetings during the month of March through March 30, 2022 or until the state of emergency is lifted; or
- 2. The Board may not adopt the resolution and resume holding meetings in compliance with the requirements of the Brown Act.

#### RESOLUTION NO.

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MOJAVE AIR AND SPACE PORT PROCLAIMING A LOCAL EMERGENCY, RATIFYING THE PROCLAMATION OF A STATE OF EMERGENCY, AND AUTHORIZING REMOTE TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS FOR THE MONTH OF MARCH 2022

WHEREAS, Mojave Air and Space Port (the "District") is committed to encouraging and preserving public access and participation in meetings of the Board of Directors; and

WHEREAS, Government Code section 54953, as amended by AB 361, makes provisions for remote teleconferencing participation in meetings by members of a legislative body, without compliance with the requirements of Government Code section 54953, subject to the existence of certain conditions; and

WHEREAS, a required condition is that there is a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing; and

WHEREAS, Governor Newsom declared a State-wide state of emergency due to the Covid-19 pandemic on March 4, 2020, which declaration is still in effect, and state and local health officials continue to recommend social distancing; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors does hereby find that the resurgence of the Covid-19 pandemic, particularly through the Delta variant, has caused, and will continue to cause, conditions of peril to the safety of persons within the District that are likely to be beyond the control of services, personnel, equipment, and facilities of the District, and desires to proclaim a local emergency and ratify both the proclamation of state of emergency by the Governor of the State of California and the Kern County Health Department guidance regarding social distancing; and

WHEREAS, based on the above the Board of Directors of the District finds that inperson public meetings of the Board would further increase the risk of exposure to the Covid-19 virus to the residents of the District, staff, and Directors; and

WHEREAS, as a consequence of the local emergency, the Board of Directors does hereby find that it shall conduct Board meetings without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Government Code section 54953, as authorized by subdivision (e) of section 54953, in compliance with the requirements to provide the public with access to the meetings as prescribed in paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of section 54953; and

WHEREAS, all meetings of Board of Directors will be available to the public for participation and comments through virtual measures, which shall be fully explained on each posted agenda.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MOJAVE AIR AND SPACE PORT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. <u>Recitals</u>. The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are incorporated into this Resolution by this reference.

Section 2. <u>Proclamation of Local Emergency</u>. The Board hereby proclaims that a local emergency now exists throughout the District, as set forth in the recitals.

Section 3. <u>Ratification of Governor's Proclamation of a State of Emergency</u>. The Board hereby ratifies the Governor's Proclamation of State of Emergency, effective as of its issuance date of March 4, 2021.

Section 4. Remote Teleconference Meetings. The General Manager, staff, and Board of Directors are hereby authorized and directed to take all actions necessary to carry out the intent and purpose of this Resolution including conducting open and public meetings in accordance with Government Code section 54953(e) and other applicable provisions of the Brown Act.

Section 5. Effective Date of Resolution. This Resolution shall take effect on March 1, 2022 and shall be effective until the earlier of (i) March 30, 2022, or such time the Board of Directors adopts a subsequent resolution in accordance with Government Code section 54953(e)(3) to extend the time during which the legislative bodies of WBMWD may continue to teleconference without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of section 54953.

Section 6. <u>Termination of this Resolution</u>. This Resolution will automatically terminate on the day that both the Governor's Declaration of Emergency and any local agency guideline for social distancing are no longer in effect.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of Mojave Air and Space Port, this 1st day of March 2022, by the following vote:

AYES: NOES: ABSENT: ABSTAIN:		
	President	
Secretary		



TO: Board of Directors

FROM: Carrie Rawlings

**SUBJECT:** Employee Handbook

**MEETING DATE:** March 1, 2022

# **Background:**

The District has had changes to departments such as Fire, Tower and Security, so there were updates needed to bring sections of employee handbook current based on the District Org Chart. As well, made edits to a few sections that required updates due to new laws. The employee handbook has not had any changes or updates since 2018, so based on employee and District needs have made a few updates. The areas worth noting include:

Section 3.1 – Compensation – The previous policy followed California Labor Laws and as a Special District it can follow the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).

Section 3.8 (a) – Holidays – The previous policy did not include Christmas Eve or New Year's Eve as holidays.

Section 4.2 (c) – Vacation Pay – The previous policy did not allow employees to cash out vacation hours if they are approaching the max and the new policy will allow employees who have reached 200 hours to cash out up to two weeks of vacation.

Section 4.3 (a) – Sick Leave and Disability Payments – The previous policy caps employees sick time at 80 hours. New policy has a cap of 160 hours to allow coverage until short term disability will begin.

Section 4.5 – Health, Dental and Optical Plan – (a) Increase monthly amount District will cover for health insurance. (b) Previous policy did not allow employees to roll over dental and vision allowance and new policy allows roll over for two years.

# **Recommended Action:**

Adopt the resolution for the Employee Handbook.

#### RESOLUTION NO.

# A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AMENDING THE EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK FOR MOJAVE AIR AND SPACE PORT

Whereas, Mojave Air and Space Port (the "District") is a California special district organized and existing pursuant to California Public Utilities Code section 22001, et seq.;

Whereas, the District adopted an Employee Handbook on [date], as amended on [date], and further desires to amend the Handbook; and

Whereas, it is the intent of this resolution to approve the Employee Handbook as amended;

**Now, therefore,** be it resolved by the Board of Directors of Mojave Air and Space Port that:

- 1. The Employee Handbook, as amended, attached hereto be adopted;
- 2. The Employee Handbook shall apply to all employees, independent contractors, and volunteers of the District;
- 3. The Employee Handbook provides regulations for employment with the District, is not a contract, and does not change the "at will" status of any employees.
- 4. The Employee Handbook may be further amended from time-to-time by, and at the sole discretion of, the District's Board of Directors.

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED on March 1, 2022.

ATTEST:	Diane Barney, President
Jimmy R. Balentine, Secretary	
(SEAL)	



# EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK

# **Table of Contents**

CHAPTER 1.	GENERAL	4
1.1	Purpose and Scope	4
1.2	Changes	4
1.3	Distribution	
CHAPTER 2.	CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT	4
2.1	General	4
2.2	Equal Employment Opportunity	4
2.3	Definitions	5
2.4	Positions Authorized	5
2.5	New Hires	6
2.6	Outside Employment	
2.7	Personnel Records	
CHAPTER 3.	WAGES AND HOURS	8
3.1	Compensation	8
3.2	Pay Periods and Pay Days	10
3.3	Rest and Meal Breaks	10
3.4	Work Schedule	10
3.5	Payroll Deductions	11
3.6	Timekeeping	11
3.7	Expense Reimbursement	11
3.8	Holidays	12
CHAPTER 4.	BENEFITS	13
4.1	Eligibility for Benefits	13
4.2	Vacation Pay	13
4.3	Sick Leave and Disability Payments	14
4.4	Continued Benefits	17
4.5	Health, Dental and Optical Plan	18
4.7	Short and Long-Term Disability	19
4.8	Workmen's Compensation Insurance	19
4.9	Tuition Assistance Program	19
4.10	Changes in Policy	
CHAPTER 5.	JOB PERFORMANCE	21
5.1	Evaluations	21
5.2	Attendance and Absences	
CHAPTER 6.	UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE	22
6.1	Approved Leaves of Absence	22
6.2	Pregnancy Disability Leave	22
6.3	Medical Leave: Occupational Disability	23
6.4	Military Service	23
6.5	Jury Duty	23
6.6	Witness Duty	24
6.7	Voting Time	
CHAPTER 7.	EMPLOYEE CONDUCT AND DISCIPLINE	24
7.1	General	24
7.2	Violations for Which an Employee May Be Discharged or Disciplined	25

7.4       Employee's Responsibility       27         7.5       Electronic Communications       27         7.6       On-the-Job Injuries       31         7.7       Life-Threatening Diseases       31         7.8       Substance Abuse Policy       32         7.9       Employee's Appearance & Dress Standards       37         7.10       Use of District Property       37         7.11       Harassment       38         7.12       Retaliation       39         CHAPTER 8       TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT       39         8.1       General       39         8.2       Separation Procedures       40         8.3       Benefits on Termination of Employment       40         8.4       Savings Clause       40         RECEIPT OF THIS EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK       41	7.3	Personnel Safety, and Security	27
7.5       Electronic Communications       27         7.6       On-the-Job Injuries       31         7.7       Life-Threatening Diseases       31         7.8       Substance Abuse Policy       32         7.9       Employee's Appearance & Dress Standards       37         7.10       Use of District Property       37         7.11       Harassment       38         7.12       Retaliation       39         CHAPTER 8.       TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT       39         8.1       General       39         8.2       Separation Procedures       40         8.3       Benefits on Termination of Employment       40         8.4       Savings Clause       40	7.4		
7.7       Life-Threatening Diseases       31         7.8       Substance Abuse Policy       32         7.9       Employee's Appearance & Dress Standards       37         7.10       Use of District Property       37         7.11       Harassment       38         7.12       Retaliation       39         8.1       General       39         8.1       General       39         8.2       Separation Procedures       40         8.3       Benefits on Termination of Employment       40         8.4       Savings Clause       40	7.5	Electronic Communications	27
7.7       Life-Threatening Diseases       31         7.8       Substance Abuse Policy       32         7.9       Employee's Appearance & Dress Standards       37         7.10       Use of District Property       37         7.11       Harassment       38         7.12       Retaliation       39         8.1       General       39         8.1       General       39         8.2       Separation Procedures       40         8.3       Benefits on Termination of Employment       40         8.4       Savings Clause       40	7.6	On-the-Job Injuries	31
7.8       Substance Abuse Policy       32         7.9       Employee's Appearance & Dress Standards       37         7.10       Use of District Property       37         7.11       Harassment       38         7.12       Retaliation       39         CHAPTER 8.       TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT       39         8.1       General       39         8.2       Separation Procedures       40         8.3       Benefits on Termination of Employment       40         8.4       Savings Clause       40	7.7		
7.9       Employee's Appearance & Dress Standards       37         7.10       Use of District Property       37         7.11       Harassment       38         7.12       Retaliation       39         CHAPTER 8.       TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT       39         8.1       General       39         8.2       Separation Procedures       40         8.3       Benefits on Termination of Employment       40         8.4       Savings Clause       40	7.8	<u> </u>	
7.10       Use of District Property       37         7.11       Harassment       38         7.12       Retaliation       39         CHAPTER 8.       TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT       39         8.1       General       39         8.2       Separation Procedures       40         8.3       Benefits on Termination of Employment       40         8.4       Savings Clause       40	7.9		
7.11 Harassment       38         7.12 Retaliation       39         CHAPTER 8. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT       39         8.1 General       39         8.2 Separation Procedures       40         8.3 Benefits on Termination of Employment       40         8.4 Savings Clause       40	7.10		
CHAPTER 8. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	7.11		
8.1General398.2Separation Procedures408.3Benefits on Termination of Employment408.4Savings Clause40	7.12	Retaliation	39
8.2 Separation Procedures	CHAPTER 8.	TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	39
8.2 Separation Procedures	8.1	General	39
8.3 Benefits on Termination of Employment	8.2		
8.4 Savings Clause	8.3	<u> </u>	
	8.4		
	RECEIPT OF	<u> </u>	

#### **CHAPTER 1. GENERAL**

# 1.1 Purpose and Scope

Mojave Air & Space Port at Rutan Field ("District") has become world renowned as the flight research center for aviation and commercial space flight, hosting the latest and most advanced aeronautical designs. Numerous companies engaged in light industrial to highly advanced aerospace design, flight test and research, to heavy rail industrial make Mojave a true economic engine for the East Kern Region. Our success in achieving these responsibilities depends on efficient and skilled teamwork among all members of the staff. This handbook sets the framework for employment with the District.

The Employee Handbook is supplemental to those employment terms and conditions contained in the District's Board Policies. If any provision of this handbook is contrary to the Board Policy, the Board Policy is the governing and final authority on such matters. Finally, as a public employee your employment is held by statute, not contract, except as otherwise provided in a writing approved by the Board of Directors.

# 1.2 Changes

Apart from those policies required by law, District may change employment policies or practices at any time without further notice. This handbook may be amended only by the District's Board of Directors.

#### 1.3 Distribution

This handbook and amendments shall be distributed to all District employees.

#### **CHAPTER 2. CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT**

# 2.1 General

Terms and conditions of employment are set forth in this chapter, except where the District and an employee have entered into a written employment agreement. No implied or unwritten employment terms or conditions exist. Except as otherwise specified by law, all employment with the District is at-will. This means either the District or the employee may terminate the employment relationship at any time for any reason.

# 2.2 Equal Employment Opportunity

The District is an equal employment opportunity employer. Employment decisions are based on

merit and business needs, and not on race, color, citizenship status, national origin, ancestry, sexual orientation, age, religion, creed, physical or mental disability, physical handicap, medical condition, marital status, veteran status, or other basis prohibited by law. The District makes reasonable accommodation for handicapped and disabled persons.

#### 2.3 Definitions

Unless otherwise apparent from context, the following terms are defined for the purposes of this Handbook:

District means Mojave Air & Space Port at Rutan Field.

Board means the Board of Directors of the District.

*Introductory Employee* means an employee who has not yet completed the introductory period.

Regular Employee means an employee who has completed the introductory period.

*Temporary Employee* means an employee who is hired for a specific project or determinate period, usually six months or less.

Part-time Employee means an employee routinely working less than 128 hours per month.

Full-time Employee means an employee routinely working at least 160 hours per month.

*Exempt Employee* means an employee who is exempt from the overtime pay requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act.

*Nonexempt Employee* means an employee who is covered by the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act.

*Year of service* means a period of one calendar year of continuous work from the date an employee commences work.

*Dependent* means the spouse and unmarried, dependent children eligible for coverage under the District's group health plan.

Executive staff means the CEO/GM, Director of Operations, Director of Administration, Director of Technology, Director of Planning, Director of Facilities and Director of Fuels. *PEPRA* means California Public Employees' Pension Reform Act which applies to any employees hired after January 2013.

# 2.4 Positions Authorized

The District may engage full and part-time employees. The status of an employee shall be determined and documented before work commences.

#### 2.5 New Hires

- a) Offers of employment are contingent on verification of an employee's right to work in the United States. Before the first day of work, a prospective employee shall provide original documents verifying the right to work and sign a verification form required by federal law. If the employee cannot verify the right to work in the United States, the District may be obligated to terminate employment.
- b) Employment is contingent upon successfully passing a background check. All applicants will be required to complete an authorization/release form enabling such an investigation. Failure to complete the authorization form will exclude the applicant from further consideration for the open position.
- c) All employees must pass their pre-employment drug screen.
- d) Employees are introductory employees for the first six (6) months of employment. During this period, an employee will have an opportunity to learn their new position and see whether they wish to continue their employment. The District will use this period to determine if the employee is able to meet the District's expectations. Introductory periods may be extended for business reasons, because of permitted time off taken by the employee, or to further evaluate the employee.
- e) Employees who drive a District vehicle or personal vehicle in the course and scope of their employment must possess a valid Drivers' License and must remain insurable under the District's insurance policy. Employees will be requested to enroll in the Pull-Notice Program with the DMV. The District reserves the right to examine at any time the driving record of an employee whose job function requires him/her to drive for the District. All employees who are required to possess a valid driver's license must immediately notify Human Resources, of any suspension, revocation, or administrative withdrawal of their driver's license upon such loss. Such employees shall not, under any circumstances, operate a motor vehicle for the District when their driver's license is under suspension, revocation, or administrative withdrawal, or at any time they do not possess a valid driver's license. If an employee operates a motor vehicle for the District without meeting the proper statutory license requirements or fails to notify Human Resources of loss of license as required here under, he/she may be disciplined up to and including termination.
- f) During the introductory period, and the entire course of employment, employees are at-will

employees. Successful completion of the introductory period is not a guarantee of continued employment.

# 2.6 Outside Employment

An employee's position with the District is their primary work responsibility. So they can do their best work, employees are requested not to work full time for another employer while employed with the District.

#### 2.7 Personnel Records

- a) The District keeps a personnel file on each employee. The contents of the file, except for letters of reference, and certain other limited kinds of information, are open for an employee's inspection at reasonable times and at reasonable intervals, upon request. An employee may make copies of certain papers from their file. Employees must notify the Director of Administration if they wish to see or copy their personnel file.
- b) Employees must keep the District informed in writing of their current address and telephone number. An employee may desire to inform the District of personal changes, such as marital status or changes in the number of dependents, so their records and benefits are kept up to date.
- c) The District will keep personnel records private. However, there are certain times when information may be given to persons outside the District. These are:
  - 1) in response to a subpoena, court order, order of an administrative agency, or as required by law;
  - 2) in a lawsuit, grievance, or arbitration in which the employee and the District are parties;
  - 3) to administer employee benefit plans;
  - 4) to a health care provider;
  - 5) to a prospective employer or other person requesting a verification of an employee's employment, but only if (a) an employee gives the District a written release allowing information to be given, or (b) the District is providing only the dates of employment, last or present job title, and the fact of employment.

# **CHAPTER 3. WAGES AND HOURS**

# 3.1 Compensation

- a) Compensation shall be established when the employee is hired.
- b) Compensation is based on actual hours worked. Regular rate of pay will be paid for work up to 40 hours in a week.
- c) Nonexempt workers must be paid overtime pay at a rate of not less than one and one-half times their regular rates of pay after 40 hours of work in a workweek.
- d) The District may consider approval of an alternate workweek schedule or flexible time for specific positions based on service levels and operational needs. Employees must obtain flexible time schedule approval by the General Manager. Alternate workweek schedules are based on business need, and are not an entitlement.
- e) .
- f) Part-time/temporary employees shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1.5) times the normal hourly rate for work more than forty (40) hours per week.Regardless of an assigned regular work schedule, the District has the right to require an employee to work any time before or after the regular workday or regular workweek including weekends, evenings, and/or holidays. Employees may be required to work overtime.
- g) Employees called into work outside of their regular shift shall be compensated for at least two (2) hours of work at the appropriate rate of pay and may be required to put in two (2) hours of work time for compensation.

1)

- h) Overtime shall be approved in advance by the General Manager.
- i) A non-exempt employee may receive, in lieu of overtime compensation, compensating time off (CTO) at a rate of not less than one and one-half (1.5) hours for each hour of employment for which overtime compensation is required by law.
  - 1) The District will provide CTO under the following conditions:
    - (A) Pursuant to a written agreement entered into between the District and employee before the performance of the work in which the employee requests CTO in lieu of overtime compensation.
    - (B) The employee has not already accrued CTO in excess of forty-five (45) hours.

- (C) The employee is regularly scheduled to work no less than forty (40) hours in a workweek.
- (D) An employee may not accrue more than forty-five (45) hours of CTO. Any employee who has accrued forty-five (45) hours of CTO shall, for any additional overtime hours of work, be paid overtime compensation.
- (E) If compensation is paid to an employee for accrued CTO, the compensation shall be paid at the regular rate earned by the employee at the time the employee receives payment.
- 2) An employee who has accrued CTO authorized to be provided under subdivision (1) shall, upon termination of employment, be paid for the unused CTO at a rate of compensation not less than the average regular rate received by the employee during the last three (3) years of the employee's employment, or the final regular rate received by the employee, whichever is higher.
- 3) An employee who has accrued CTO authorized to be provided under subdivision (i)(1) shall use that time by the end of the fiscal year in which it was earned. An employee who requests the use of CTO shall be permitted to use the time within a reasonable period after making the request if the use of the CTO does not unduly disrupt the operations of the District.
  - (A) Upon the request of an employee, the District shall pay overtime compensation in cash in lieu of CTO for any CTO that has accrued for at least two (2) pay periods if exigent circumstances exist and it is approved by the Board.
  - (B) For purposes of determining whether a request to use CTO has been granted within a reasonable period, the following factors shall be considered:
    - (i) The normal schedule of work.
    - (ii) Anticipated peak workloads based on past experience.
    - (iii) Emergency requirements for staff and services.
    - (iv) The availability of qualified substitute staff.
  - 4) This section shall not apply to any employee exempt from the overtime provisions of applicable law.

# 3.2 Pay Periods and Pay Days

- a) Wages shall be paid on a bi-weekly schedule every other Friday. Paychecks will include regular and overtime pay for all time worked during the previous pay period that have been included in their timecard.
- b) Workweek begins at 12:00 a.m. on Monday and ends seven consecutive days later on Sunday at 11:59 p.m.
- c) If an employee's vacation falls on a payday, the employee's check will be mailed unless prior arrangements have been made.

#### 3.3 Rest and Meal Breaks

- a) Rest Breaks. The District encourages employees to take the following rest breaks: (i) An employee working at least three-and-a-half (3.5) hours or more may take a paid ten (10) minute break, and (ii) An employee working seven (7) hours or more may take two (2) paid ten (10) minute breaks. The District does not pay for rest breaks that are longer than ten minutes, and the employee is required to note on their time card all breaks longer than ten minutes.
- b) <u>Meal Breaks</u>. An employee working five hours or more must take a thirty minute meal break. Meal breaks are unpaid, and an employee must clock out when leaving for break and clock in when returning to work. If an employee is required by a supervisor to work during a meal break, the employee will be compensated at their regular hourly rate. Tower and Security personnel are considered mission essential and are compensated during the thirty minute meal break.
- c) The District will provide reasonable lactation accommodation for employees who wish to express breast milk for their infant when they return to work. Employees may use their paid rest break times to express milk. If additional time is needed, it may be unpaid. The District will work with an employee to provide a private place to express milk.

#### 3.4 Work Schedule

The District establishes work hours consistent with its operating requirements and responsibilities. Work shifts, days, hours and periods can be established and modified by the District within limits prescribed by law, based on operating conditions and requirements. Employees may not change their own regular work schedule without approval. . Employees are required to be at their assigned work locations at their designated starting time, in appropriate work attire, ready to work. . The particular schedule of each employee may vary, according to their position/department. If an employee requests a change in their work schedule, the District will consider the request and may

make the change. Tower and Security personnel shifts are set to meet mission requirements.

# 3.5 Payroll Deductions

- a) Federal and state laws require the District withhold taxes from an employee's wages, including federal and state payroll taxes, Medicare, and California State Disability Insurance (SDI). Part-Time employees will have FICA taken from their payroll.
- b) An employee must inform the Director of Administration of a change in the number of the exemptions or marital status for federal or state tax withholding purposes.
- c) The District will comply with wage garnishment orders. A garnishment will reduce an employee's take-home pay.
- d) Full-Time PEPRA employees will be required to have the PERS payroll deduction.
- e) If an employee's medical insurance premium exceeds the Districts contribution the difference will be deducted from employee's check.

# 3.6 Timekeeping

- a) Time cards are prepared electronically for each pay period by the employee or manager/supervisor, and are to be approved after the close of the pay period by the employee and manager/supervisor. It is important for employees to keep accurate time cards and submit when they are due. A time card is a legal document and must not be tampered with. Completing a time card for a fellow employee or falsifying one's own time card is dishonest and may lead to immediate discharge.
- b) Mandatory employee meetings count as hours worked. If an employee is required by the District to attend educational or training activities, the employee will be compensated at the regular hourly rate for their attendance time.
- c) Each employee must immediately notify the Director of Administration if a payroll check does not reflect time worked during the pay period.

#### 3.7 Expense Reimbursement

- a) The District may require employees to use their vehicles on District business or may provide use of a District vehicle for District business. When travel is authorized by the District, an employee shall be paid pre-approved reasonable and necessary reimbursement for all expenses in connection with District business.
- b) Officers and employees shall be entitled to reimbursement for authorized use of their privately-owned vehicles in the conduct of business, at the mileage reimbursable rate set

- by the Internal Revenue Service.
- c) Expenses shall be submitted with an expense report. All receipts for purchases made on behalf of the District must be included with the report. Detailed information must be included in the report for mileage reimbursement.
- d) Automobile rental expenses shall be approved in advance by a member of the executive staff. Airfare reimbursement shall be at government or coach rate, if available.
   Taxi/Uber/Lyft fares are reimbursable only if shuttle service is not readily available.
- e) When an employee is authorized by a member of the executive staff to travel, the employee will receive the Standard Meals & Incidentals Rate published by U.S. General Services Administration for the days they are on travel for District business.
- f) When an employee is authorized by a member of the executive staff to incur a reimbursable lodging expense, the employee shall submit paid receipts or other evidence that the expense has been incurred. An employee may receive an advance on anticipated lodging expenses based on published rates. The advance shall be reconciled with actual expenditures within thirty (30) days following the activity.

# 3.8 Holidays

- a) All regularly scheduled full-time employees will receive a normal day's pay at their normal rate for the following holidays:
  - New Year's Day (January 1st);
  - Memorial Day (The last Monday in May);
  - Independence Day (July 4<sup>th</sup>);
  - Labor Day (The first Monday in September);
  - Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday;
  - Christmas Eve (December 24<sup>th</sup>)
  - Christmas Day (December 25<sup>th</sup>); and
  - New Years Eve (December 31st)
  - Three (3) Floating Holidays.
  - Floating holidays will expire on December 31<sup>st</sup> without pay and hours will be added on January 1<sup>st</sup> for new and existing employees.
- b) If a holiday falls on Saturday, it will be observed the preceding business day. If a holiday falls on Sunday, it will be observed on Monday. If a holiday falls on a Tuesday or

- Thursday, the District shall determine when it shall be observed. Holidays that fall during a scheduled vacation do not count as a vacation day.
- c) Regular full-time employees shall be paid their regular compensation for each holiday if the employee does not work. Regular full-time employees authorized to work on a holiday shall be paid holiday and hours worked at regular rate of pay.
- d) Part-time, non-salaried employees shall not be paid for holidays if the employee does not work. If a part-time employee works on a holiday, the employee will be compensated at the regular rate, unless the employee works overtime.

#### **CHAPTER 4. BENEFITS**

# 4.1 Eligibility for Benefits

The District provides the following employee benefits when the conditions have been met.

# 4.2 Vacation Pay

- a) Regular, full-time employees will accrue one (1) workweek of paid vacation during their first year of employment, which may be used as it is accrued. (1.54 hours per pay period). After the first year of service, regular, full-time employees shall earn two (2) workweeks of paid vacation (3.08 hours per pay period). After four (4) years of service, regular, full-time employees shall earn three (3) workweeks of paid vacation (4.62 hours per pay period). After completion of fourteen (14) years of service, regular, full-time employees shall earn four (4) workweeks of paid vacation (6.15 hours per pay period). Vacation benefits do not accrue when a full-time employee is on leave for any reason other than vacation or a District holiday.
- b) The scheduling of an employee's vacation is based on the District's operational needs and the requests for vacation and leaves of absence of other employees. All vacation requests must be approved in advance by a member of the executive staff.
- c) If accrued vacation time is not used by the end of the calendar year, employees may carry over unused vacation hours, but total vacation hours may not exceed two hundred and forty (240) hours. Employees who have reached 200 hours are permitted to cash-out up to two weeks of vacation hours in one week increments within a fiscal year by completing the request form. Employees who have an exigent circumstance can request a cash out of unused vacation with approval from the CEO/General Manager.

- d) An employee may not take a paid vacation before accruing paid vacation time. If an employee takes a vacation but does not have accrued vacation time, the employee will not be compensated for the time off. If an employee takes more vacation time than is accrued and leaves the District, the amount of unearned vacation time taken will be deducted from the employee's final paycheck.
- e) Vacation benefits are not earned when an employee is on a leave of absence or suspended.
- f) Part-time employees who become regular, full-time employees shall complete twelve (12) months of full-time service before earning one (1) workweek of paid vacation days.Vacation pay accrues at the same rate for all regular, full-time employees.

# 4.3 Sick Leave and Disability Payments

- a) Persons employed full-time by the District for at least thirty (30) days in a Twelve (12) Month Period are eligible for sick leave as follows: sick leave shall accrue at the rate of 1.54 hours of paid leave for each pay period up to a maximum of One Hundred and Sixty (160) hours. Upon retirement, full-time employees with at least five (5) years but less than ten (10) years of service shall be paid for fifty percent (50%) of accumulated unused sick leave, and full-time employees with ten (10) or more years of service shall be paid for one hundred percent (100%) of accumulated unused sick leave, paid at the employee's salary rate at the time of retirement. Except as expressly provided in this section 4.3(a), unused sick leave is not compensable at termination of the employment with the District.
- b) Sick benefits are not earned when an employee is on a leave of absence or suspended.
- c) Persons employed part-time, temporary, and per diem (collectively, "Part Time") by the District for at least thirty (30) days in a twelve (12) month period are eligible for three (3) days or twenty-four (24) hours of sick leave as follows: paid sick leave shall accrue at the rate of one (1) hour for every thirty (30) hours worked. Part-time employees may carry over six (6) days or forty-eight (48) hours of sick leave but may not use more than three (3) days or twenty-four (24) hours in a twelve (12) month period regardless of the amount carried over. Unused sick leave will not be paid out at the termination of a Part-time employee's employment with District.
- d) "Twelve (12) month period" means: (1) July 1 to June 30 for those persons employed by the District on July 1, 2015, or (2) the twelve (12) month period from their date of hire for those hired after July 1, 2015. If an employee's employment with the District is terminated

- and that employee returns to work for the District within twelve (12) months of the termination, that employee's sick leave shall be restored as it was at termination.
- e) Sick leave may be taken ninety (90) days after commencement of employment by the District or thirty (30) days of actual work, whichever is later. Sick leave may be used for preventive care or care of an existing health condition of an employee or the employee's spouse, domestic registered partner, child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, or sibling. Sick leave may also be used by employees who are the victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking. Full-time employees may use sick leave for bereavement leave, but not to exceed five (5) days in a twelve (12) month period.
- f) Employees may use paid sick leave upon oral or written request. If the need is foreseeable the employee must give the District reasonable advance notice, but where the need is unforeseeable an employee must give notice as soon as practicable.
- g) If an employee is hospitalized or out sick for more than seven (7) calendar days for an injury or illness not work-related, the employee should apply for State Disability Insurance (SDI) benefits. These benefits will be coordinated with sick pay.
- h) The Director of Administration may request a doctor's certification for sick leave for all injuries/illnesses event that exceed three working days.
- i) Sick leave may be used when adverse weather conditions create difficulty for employees to report to work or make it advisable for employees to leave work early. Employees who anticipate problems with transportation are encouraged to exercise personal judgment concerning road safety in their areas.
- j) Under the California Family Rights Act of 1993 (CFRA), if an employee has more than twelve (12) months of service with the District and has worked at least one thousand, two hundred and fifty (1,250) hours in the twelve (12) month period before the date the employee would like to begin leave, the employee may have a right to an unpaid family care of medical leave. This leave may be up to twelve (12) weeks in a twelve (12) month period for the birth, adoption, or foster care placement of the employee's child or for the employee's own serious health condition or the serious health condition of the employee's child, parent or spouse. If possible, the employee must provide at least thirty (30) days advance notice of a foreseeable event. For events that are not foreseeable, the employee must notify the District, at least verbally as soon as the employee knows of the need for the

leave. Failure to comply with these rules is grounds for, and may result in, deferral of the requested leave until the employee complies. The District may require a certification from a health care provider before allowing a leave for pregnancy or the employee's own serious health condition, or certification from the health care provider of the employee's child, parent, or spouse who has a serious health condition before allowing a leave to take care of the family member. When medically necessary, leave may be taken on an intermittent or reduced work schedule. The basis minimum duration of leave for birth, adoption or foster care is two (2) weeks, and the employee must conclude the leave within one (1) year of such event. Taking CFRA leave may impact certain benefits and seniority.

- k) If an employee has worked for the District for at least one (1) year and for one thousand, two hundred and fifty (1,250) hours over the past twelve (12) months, the employee may be eligible for unpaid leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). Under the FMLA, leave is available (1) to care for the employee's child after birth, or placement for adoption or foster care, (2) to care for the employee's spouse, son or daughter, or parent who has a serious health condition, or (3) for a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the employee's job. The employee must provide thirty (30) days advance notice when the leave is foreseeable. The District requires a medical certification to support a request for leave due to a serious health condition and may require a second or third opinion at District expense, and a fitness for duty clearance before return to work. Health insurance will be maintained under the group plan during leave. Employees will not be discriminated against for taking such leave, and employees taking such leave will retain the benefits they accrued prior to taking such leave. If you have any questions concerning leave, or require forms, please see the Director of Administration.
- 1) The District offers a Catastrophic Sick Leave-Donation Program to give employees a chance to support their co-workers who are facing a major health crisis, whether their own or that of a family member, as well as a death in the employee's immediate family. The program allows employees to provide assistance in the form of donated sick time. An employee shall be faced with or have incurred either a catastrophic illness or injury in order to be eligible for this program. The CEO/General Manager shall determine individual eligibility status. "Catastrophic" means: the employee is unable to perform the duties of their position because of a serious illness or accident or will require a lengthy recovery;

there is a serious illness or accident which will require a lengthy recovery in the employee's immediate family; or there is a death in the employee's immediate family. The hours donated with be converted based on the monetary value of the sick leave donated.

#### **4.4** Continued Benefits

- a) Permanent, full-time officers and employees are eligible for participation in the retirement program through the Public Employees' Retirement System (P.E.R.S.). Eligibility for participation in the program shall be determined on the basis of the contract between P.E.R.S. and the District. Employees hired prior to prior to January 1, 2013, are considered classic members for Miscellaneous and Safety. Employees hired after January 1, 2013, will receive retirement benefits calculated under the PEPRA 2013, The California Public Employees' Pension Reform Act of 2013, unless they have already been classified by CalPERS as a classic member. CalPERS determines the employee's classification based on individual circumstances if they are a previous CalPERS member.
- b) Employees hired prior to October 1, 2017, that reach retirement age and who have been an active member of P.E.R.S. for at least five (5) years and their dependents are eligible for continued participation in the District's group medical plan. Employees hired after October 1, 2017 will be eligible for health benefits based on the resolution with CalPERS vesting schedule.

Based on their years of PERS service with the District, annuitants would be eligible to receive a percentage of the 100/90 formula amounts from the employer as follows:

Credited Years of PERS Service (5 of which must be performed at your agency)	Percentage of Contribution
10	50%
11	55%
12	60%
13	65%
14	70%
15	75%
16	80%
17	85%
18	90%
19	95%
20+	100%

The District shall pay the cost of such coverage. The District shall pay the cost of dental/optical benefits for retired officers and employees and their dependents in the same manner and to the same extent as active full-time employees.

# 4.5 Health, Dental and Optical Plan

- a) Permanent, full-time officers and employees, including active directors, and their dependents shall be eligible for membership in the District's group health plan. Membership shall commence at the earliest date permitted by the plan. Except for benefits provided to former employees, health plan membership shall cease at termination of employment or office holding. The District will pay up to the following amounts monthly for the cost of group health plan membership:
  - (1) \$783.00 for an employee only;
  - (2) \$1,487.00 for an employee with one dependent; and
  - (3) \$1,907.00 for an employee with more than one dependent.

The District shall reimburse each employee for the deductible portion of the employee's group health plan, not to exceed \$500.00 per individual or family group per year. The employee shall present written proof satisfactory to the General Manager that such costs have been incurred before such reimbursement is paid.

- b) Permanent full-time officers and employees, including directors, and their dependents shall be eligible for dental, optical, and audiology plan reimbursement after the 6 month probationary period at the start of their employment. The employee or director shall be reimbursed up to \$1,500.00 per fiscal year for dental and or optical expenses incurred by the employee, director, and each eligible dependent. Unused annual allowance may be rolled over for two years for employee, director, and each eligible dependent. The unused annual allowance must be used by the individual who rolled over the balance. The maximum balance for a family is \$10,000.
- c) As used herein, the term "dependent" refers to an officer's or an employee's spouse and dependent unmarried children up to the age specified by federal or state law (currently, twenty-six (26) years old, dependents as defined by law for full-time students, and dependent children regardless of age who are physically or mentally incapacitated.

#### 4.6 Life Insurance

Permanent full-time employees receive the life insurance benefits of the District's health and accident insurance plan in an amount established by the Board.

# 4.7 Short and Long-Term Disability

Permanent full-time employees receive short and long-term disability benefits in the event the employee goes on leave of absence.

#### 4.8 Workmen's Compensation Insurance

All employees shall receive the benefit of Workers' Compensation Insurance as provided by law.

# 4.9 Tuition Assistance Program

- a) The District has a tuition assistance program to encourage employees to plan and direct their career and personal development, and increase their skill base for work with the District. The tuition assistance program provides financial aid and paid leave for educational courses and programs in accordance with the following procedures.
- b) All full-time employees with six (6) months or more of service with the District are eligible to participate in the tuition assistance program.
- c) Acceptable Courses and Programs:
  - 1) Basic reading, writing, English language, and arithmetic courses;
  - 2) Courses or programs to maintain or improve skills required in the employee's current job, or next higher-level job to which the employee aspires;
  - Courses or programs relevant to or required for a skill, license, certification, or degree appropriate to the individual's career development and the District's need for the particular craft;
  - 4) Specific degree programs, including GED, Associate, Bachelors, and graduate degrees in all areas relevant to the District's operations; and
  - 5) Test preparation classes for promotional examinations within the District.
- d) Acceptable Educational Institutions include accredited postsecondary institutions, certified correspondence schools and other institutions, organizations, or individuals approved by the District.
- e) The District may pay 100% of tuition costs (including Registration, books and laboratory fees) for acceptable course(s) or program(s) up to the maximum of Ten Thousand dollars (\$10,000), in the District's sole discretion, per eligible employee in any calendar year. The \$10,000 maximum benefit is available to employees who wish to further their education

- within their current work field at the District. If employees wish to pursue education not related to their current work field at the District, the maximum benefit is \$5,000. Tuition payments will be made directly to the educational institution or reimbursed to the employee upon completion of the course or program.
- f) Employee is required to bring in proof of the final grade of the course or program taken. If the employee does not show proof of the final grade within 60 days of completion of course, he or she will be required to reimburse the District, either by personal check or by payroll deduction, in full all funds paid by District.
- g) Employee will be required to have a grade of "B" or above for undergraduate and graduate degree programs, and a passing grade (e.g. "D" or higher) for all other courses. If employee does not achieve the required grade, he or she will be required to reimburse the District in full for funds paid by District.
- h) Employees receive regular wages and benefits when participating in any of the two (2) following leave arrangements:
  - Personal time off: employees may rearrange their regular working hours to schedule a course or programs;
  - 2) Short-term leave: employee may request up to five (5) days leave per year to complete a specific educational activity during working hours.
- i) Procedure for Applying for Financial Assistance:
  - 1) The employee completes a payment request form available from Administration.
  - 2) The form is submitted to the employee's immediate supervisor who reviews and forwards it to the General Manger with a recommendation.
  - 3) The General Manger reviews, recommends, and forwards the request to Administration.
  - 4) If either the supervisor or General Manager disapproves the request, or the course or institution are unacceptable, Administration will meet with employee, to work out an alternative course of study.
  - 5) If approved by both the supervisor and General Manager, Administration confirms course(s) and institution eligibility.
  - 6) Upon completion of an academic term, the employee shall submit his or her academic transcript to Administration who will confirm compliance with this

policy and forward the request to the accounting department to submit payment to the institution or reimbursement to the employee.

- j) Procedures for Applying for Educational Leave:
  - 1) Personal time off: the employee arranges with his or her immediate supervisor a modified work schedule.
  - 2) Short-term leave requests must be approved by supervisor and General Manager.

# 4.10 Changes in Policy

The District reserves the right to cancel or change the benefits it offers to its employees.

#### **CHAPTER 5. JOB PERFORMANCE**

#### 5.1 Evaluations

- a) The District may review the job performance of employees. The purposes of the evaluations are:
  - 1) to evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of the employee's work;
  - 2) to communicate these to the employee; and
  - 3) to set future performance goals.
- b) Employees are encouraged to ask specific questions about and to comment on their evaluation. Employees may offer written comments on the evaluation form. The employee may obtain a copy of the completed form. A good performance evaluation does not guarantee a pay raise, because pay increases may not occur every year, nor is a good evaluation a promise of continued employment.

#### 5.2 Attendance and Absences

- a) Attendance is a basic indicator of an employee's performance. An employee must report to work on time. If an employee cannot come to work, or will be more than a few minutes late, the employee must inform their supervisor of expected arrival time.
- b) Excessive absences, failure to report absences on time, and/or tardiness will lead to discipline, up to and including discharge. Absences are excessive if they occur frequently, or if they show a pattern. Absences immediately before or after a holiday and weekends are suspect. Frequent absences for minor complaints such as a headache or stomachache are also suspect.

#### CHAPTER 6. UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE

# **6.1** Approved Leaves of Absence

- a) The General Manager may grant unpaid leaves of absence for the convenience of the employee. An employee's introductory period is extended by the number of days of absence. Temporary employees are not eligible for a leave of absence.
- b) Except as required by law, the District cannot guarantee the employee's position will be open upon return from an extended leave of absence. If the position has been filled or eliminated the District will try to find the employee a comparable position.
- Unpaid leaves of absence will be permitted for medical leave and non-occupational disability conditions.
- d) The District requires written proof from a licensed doctor that the employee's disability has started or ended before allowing the employee to take a leave or return from leave to assume full or modified duties with limitations. The employee must provide the following information as soon as known: (1) how long the employee expects to be on disability leave; (2) a doctor's certificate, or other medical proof acceptable to the District, showing the expected dates of the employee's disability; and (3) regular updates at least every week regarding the employee's medical status and the date the employee expects to return to work. Applications for leaves of absence for disability because of pregnancy or childbirth should be submitted at least two (2) weeks before the start date of such leave, if possible.

# 6.2 Pregnancy Disability Leave

- a) Under the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA), if an employee is disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions, they may be eligible to take a pregnancy disability leave. An employee affected by pregnancy or a related medical condition, may also be eligible to transfer to a less strenuous or hazardous position or to less strenuous or hazardous duties if the transfer is medically advisable. The District will treat pregnancy disability the same as other disabilities of similarly situated employees. This affects whether leave will be paid or unpaid.
- b) The pregnancy disability leave is for up to four (4) months or eighty-eight (88) workdays for a full-time employee) per pregnancy for actual disability caused by your pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions. The pregnancy disability leave does not need to

be taken in one continuous period of time but can be taken on an as-needed basis. Time off needed for prenatal care or morning sickness may not be covered by your pregnancy disability leave. An employee should consult their physician to obtain certification that the situation is covered by pregnancy disability leave.

- c) The employee may be required to obtain a certification from a health care provider confirming either pregnancy disability or the medical advisability for a transfer. The certification should include:
  - the date disability due to pregnancy commences or the date of the medical advisability for transfer;
  - 2) the probable duration of the period(s) of disability or the period(s) for the advisability of the transfer; and
  - 3) a statement that, due to the disability, the employee is unable to work or to perform any one or more of the essential functions of the position without undue risk to the employee, the successful completion of the pregnancy or to other persons, or a statement that, due to the pregnancy, the transfer is medically advisable.
- d) At the employee's option, accrued vacation or other accrued time off may be used as part of pregnancy disability leave before taking unpaid leave. The employee may be required to use available sick leave. An employee may also be eligible for State Disability Insurance for the unpaid portion of leave.

# 6.3 Medical Leave: Occupational Disability

If an employee is injured at work, the employee may be placed on Workers Compensation until: (1) a recognized medical professional certifies the employee is allowed to resume all of the duties of the employee's former position; (2) the employee is unable to come back to work in their position (i.e., the employee's condition is permanent and stationary); or (3) the employee resigns, quits, or otherwise indicates they are not going to return to their job.

# 6.4 Military Service

Employees are eligible for military leaves of absence. The specific terms and nature of their right to return to their job after a military leave is governed by law.

# 6.5 Jury Duty

Employees absent for service on petit jury shall be paid regular district salary by endorsing the jury fees, less mileage payments, to the District.

# 6.6 Witness Duty

An employee who is called to answer a subpoena as a witness in an official capacity shall be compensated at his /her regular rate of pay for all hours of absence from work due to answering the subpoena and provided the employee shows proof of the subpoena and deposits witness fees received for the hours, exclusive of mileage, with the District.

An employee subpoenaed to appear in court in a manner unrelated to his/her official capacity as a District employee shall be permitted time off without pay, or the employee may choose to use accrued vacation for this purpose.

# **6.7** Voting Time

- a) If an employee does not have sufficient time outside of working hours to vote at a statewide election, the employee may, without loss of pay, take off enough working time that, when added to the voting time available outside of working hours, will enable the employee to vote.
- b) If an employee anticipates taking more than two hours off for voting, the employee should notify the appropriate supervisor of this need. The time off for voting shall be only at the beginning or the end of the regular working shift, whichever allows the most free time for voting and the least time off from the regular working shift, unless otherwise mutually agreed.
- c) If the employee on the third working day prior to the day of election, knows or has reason to believe that time off will be necessary to be able to vote on election day, the employee shall give the employer at least two working days' notice that time off for voting is desired, in accordance with this section.

#### CHAPTER 7. EMPLOYEE CONDUCT AND DISCIPLINE

#### 7.1 General

- a) Work rules are necessary to good management, employee safety, effective work, and fairness. Listed herein are examples of unacceptable conduct. Because it is not possible to list every possible form of unacceptable conduct, there may be other conduct not listed that is contrary to the District's interest that is not allowed.
- b) The District expects high quality work from its employees and expects employees to conduct themselves in a businesslike manner. If discipline is necessary, it may take the

form of an oral warning, a written warning, suspension without pay, demotion, reduction in pay, or discharge, at management's discretion. A negative performance evaluation will count as a written warning. The District has the right to determine what discipline is appropriate. There is no standard series of disciplinary steps the District must follow. In certain circumstances, an employee's conduct may lead to immediate discharge.

c) If an employee is discharged the employee may follow the Skelly process. An employee who has been discharged, reduced in rank, or suspended for longer than ten working days, may appeal the action to the Board by notifying the General Manager and the Board within fifteen day after receipt of the notice. Upon receipt of an appeal from an employee, the Board shall set a date for hearing. The Board may sit en banc or assign the matter to one or more directors to hear and decide the appeal. The Board, or the hearing officer, may compel the attendance of witnesses to testify under oath. The Skelly process procedure in Board Policy 300 is the employee's sole recourse for an appeal of disciplinary action.

# 7.2 Violations for Which an Employee May Be Discharged or Disciplined

The following conduct will result in discipline. The type of discipline will depend on how serious the violation is and the specific facts and circumstances of the conduct. Discipline includes oral or written warnings, suspension, or discharge.

- Malicious or willful destruction or damage to District property or supplies, or to the property of another employee, customer, or visitor;
- b) Stealing or removing without permission District property or property of another employee, customer, or visitor;
- c) Acts of dishonesty, including obtaining employment with the District by lying or giving false or misleading information, falsifying any employment documents or records, including the employee's or a co-worker's time records, and other acts of dishonesty;
- d) Bringing or possessing firearms, weapons, or other hazardous or dangerous devices or substances onto District property without proper authorization;
- e) Possession, use, or sale of alcoholic beverages or illegal drugs on District property, or reporting for work under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs;
- f) Insubordination, including improper conduct toward a supervisor, or refusal to perform tasks assigned by a supervisor;
- g) Fighting on District property;

- h) Harassing, threatening, intimidating, or coercing another employee;
- Giving the District's products away free of charge, or at a discount, to any person, or in violation of the District's policies;
- j) Pleading guilty to or being convicted of any crime other than a minor traffic violation;
- k) Failure to follow District procedures for maintaining the confidentiality of the District's proprietary information or confidential customer information.
- Any violation for which an employee may be disciplined may, in appropriate cases, result in discharge.
- m) Unsatisfactory job performance;
- n) Not following an established safety rule;
- Tardiness or excessive absence from work or work area, including taking too long for lunch and break periods;
- p) Leaving the District's premises or the employee's job during working hours without notifying the employee's supervisor and obtaining permission;
- q) Horseplay or any other action that is dangerous to others, or to District property, or that disrupts work;
- r) Smoking in areas where "No Smoking" signs are posted;
- s) Working unauthorized overtime or failing to submit time records or overtime records;
- t) Use of abusive or vulgar language;
- u) Carelessness or negligence in doing their job;
- v) Using District equipment without permission;
- w) Possessing or removing District or employee property, food, or other items without permission;
- x) Sleeping while on duty;
- y) Abuse of sick leave;
- z) Inappropriate appearance or grooming;
- aa) Failure to notify a supervisor when unable to report to work, or unreported absences of three (3) consecutive scheduled workdays;
- bb) Discrimination, harassment, or retaliation, or failure to investigate discrimination or harassment, or violation of any other District, state, or federal workplace laws.
- cc) No soliciting or conducting non District business on the clock

# 7.3 Personnel Safety, and Security

The work environment must be safe and secure, and free from harassment. Employees must act in a professional manner toward fellow employees, customers, and members of the community. To maintain confidentiality of appropriate District information, it is important employees follow District's rules regarding dress, safety, and security.

#### 7.4 Employee's Responsibility

- a) Safety is a vital concern with the District and is one of the employee's most important responsibilities. Following the District's Injury Illness Prevention Program and all safety policies/procedures is essential. If an employee sees an unsafe condition, the employee must report it to their supervisor or a member of the Executive Staff. The employee must report all accidents, no matter how minor. The employee must also learn the location of the nearest first aid kit, fire extinguishers, and exits.
- b) The District requires all equipment and machinery be in proper working order and safe to work with at all times. If any equipment or machinery breaks down, do not use it until a qualified technician makes sure it is repaired and safe.
- c) Employees should not try to fix broken equipment or machinery themselves. Employees should notify their supervisor of any equipment breakdown as soon as it happens. If the breakdown requires emergency repairs, a member of the Executive Staff will try to deal with the emergency situation as soon as possible.
- d) From time to time the District conducts formal safety training. An employee's attendance at safety training sessions is mandatory.
- e) District employees may be exposed to confidential customer information, such as test and operations schedules and other proprietary information. It is the employee's responsibility to keep such information confidential and discuss only with other employees known to have access to the information.

#### 7.5 Electronic Communications

a) District Property: As a productivity enhancement tool, District provides and encourages the business use of electronic communications (including but not limited to voice mail, electronic mail, instant messaging, text and SMS messages, and fax). Electronic communications systems, owned by District, and all messages generated on or handled by these electronic communications systems, including back-up copies, are the property of District. Any attempt to violate, circumvent

and/or ignore these policies could result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination. In addition, electronic communications made in the course of employment are subject to the California Public Records Act.

- b) Authorized Usage: District's electronic communications systems must be used solely to facilitate the business of the District. Use of the District's computers is restricted to employees. Any non-employee use of the computers is prohibited unless prior authorization is given. Employees are prohibited from changing in any way the setup and structure of the computer network. Employees are forbidden from using District electronic communication systems for private business activities, personal, or amusement/entertainment purposes. Employees are reminded that the use of District resources, including electronic communications, should never create either the appearance or the reality of inappropriate use. Inappropriate use may result in loss of access privileges and disciplinary action, up to and including termination.
- c) Proper Usage: Employees are strictly prohibited from using District computers, e-mail systems, and Internet access accounts for personal reasons or for any improper purpose. Some specific examples of prohibited uses include, but are not limited to:
  - Transmitting, retrieving, downloading, or storing messages or images that are
    offensive, derogatory, off-color, sexual in content, or otherwise inappropriate in a
    business environment.
  - Making threatening or harassing statements to another employee, or to a vendor, customer, or other outside party.
  - Transmitting, retrieving, downloading, or storing messages or images relating to race, religion, color, sex, national origin, citizenship status, age, handicap, disability, sexual orientation, or any other status protected under federal, state, and local laws.
  - Communicating confidential District information to individuals inside or outside the
    District or to other organizations, without specific authorization from management to
    do so.
  - Sending or receiving confidential or copyrighted materials without prior authorization.
  - Soliciting personal business opportunities, or personal advertising.
  - Gambling, monitoring sports scores for monetary gain, or playing electronic games.
- d) User Passwords: Regardless of the circumstances, individual passwords must never be shared or revealed to anyone else besides the authorized user and issuer.

- e) User Identity: Misrepresenting, obscuring, suppressing, or replacing a user's identity on an electronic communications system is forbidden. The username, electronic mail address, organizational affiliation, and related information included with electronic messages or postings must reflect the actual originator of the messages or postings.
- f) No Expectation of Privacy: District may monitor and collect data about electronic communications and Internet use. Employees should expect that all information created, transmitted, downloaded, received, or stored on District computers, or other electronic devices may be accessed by the District at any time, without prior notice. Employees should not assume that they have an expectation of privacy or confidentiality in such messages or information (whether or not such messages or information is password protected), or that deleted messages are necessarily removed from the system.
- Regular Message Monitoring: Contents of electronic communications may be monitored, and the usage of electronic communications systems will be monitored to support operational, maintenance, auditing, security, and investigative activities. The District reserves the right to disclose any electronic messages to law enforcement officials without prior notice to any employees who may have sent or received such messages. Employees should structure their electronic communications in recognition of the fact that District will, from time to time, examine the content of electronic communications.
  - Employees are reminded that all messages are District records. Therefore, District reserves the right to access and disclose all messages sent over its electronic messaging systems or stored on its computers and electronic devices.
- h) Contents of Messages: Workers must not use profanity, obscenities, or derogatory remarks in electronic messages. Such remarks—even when made in jest—may create legal issues. Special caution is warranted because backup and archival copies of electronic mail may actually be more permanent and more readily accessed than traditional paper communications. Therefore, transmission of obscene, harassing or otherwise inappropriate messages is strictly prohibited.
- i) Message Forwarding: Recognizing that some information is intended for specific individuals and may not be appropriate for general distribution, electronic communications users should exercise caution when forwarding messages. District's sensitive information must not be forwarded to any party outside District without the prior approval of a local Department Manager. Blanket forwarding of messages to parties outside District is prohibited unless the prior permission of the

- CEO/General Manager has been obtained.
- j) Handling Information About Cyber Security: Employees must promptly report all information security alerts, warnings, suspected vulnerabilities, and the like to the Director of Technology. Employees are prohibited from utilizing District systems to forward such information to others, whether internal or external to District without prior authorization from the Director of Technology.
- k) Public Representations: No media release or advertisement, Internet posting, electronic bulletin board posting, electronic mail message, voice mail message, or any other public representation about District may be issued unless it has first been approved by the CEO/General Manager prior to usage.
- User Backup: If an electronic mail message contains information relevant to the completion of a business transaction, contains potentially important reference information, or has value as evidence of a District management decision, it should be retained for future reference. Most electronic mail messages will not fall into these categories, and accordingly can be erased after receipt. Electronic mail systems are not intended for the archival storage of important information, as stored electronic mail messages can be periodically expunged by systems administrators, mistakenly erased by users, and otherwise lost when system problems occur.
- m) Archival Storage: All official District electronic mail messages, including those containing a formal management approval, authorization, delegation, or handing over of responsibility, or similar transaction, must be archived/copied to individual user archive files within the Outlook e-mail facility or Laserfiche.
- n) Purging Electronic Messages: Messages no longer needed for business purposes must be periodically purged by Employees from their electronic message storage areas (including Outlook's out boxes, in- boxes, and file folders). It is recommended that after. After seven (7) days e-mail which has been sent to "Trash" will automatically be purged. Not only will this increase scarce storage space, it will also simplify records management and related activities. For Voice Mail, messages are saved for 30 days then purged. Undeliverable messages are automatically deleted.
- o) Harassing or Offensive Materials: Sexually explicit words and images, ethnic slurs, racial epithets, religious or political statements or anything else that may be construed as harassment or disparagement of others based on their race, national origin, gender, sexual orientation, age,

religious beliefs, or political beliefs may not be displayed or transmitted. Unwanted telephone calls, electronic mail, and internal mail are strictly prohibited and are cause for disciplinary action including termination. Employees are encouraged to immediate report any offensive electronic mail messages, telephone calls, and/or other communication to their manager and the Human Resources Department.

#### 7.6 On-the-Job Injuries

- a) If an employee is injured on the job, the employee must get medical treatment immediately. If necessary, an ambulance should be called. If the injury is less serious, the Supervisor must make arrangements to have the employee taken to the doctor.
- b) If an employee is injured while performing their job, they may be covered by the District's workers' compensation insurance. The employee must report the injury to their supervisor/Director of Administration as quickly as possible, no matter how minor, and even if the employee does not need medical treatment. The supervisor will make a report of the injury as soon as possible after the injury happens and provide a copy to the Director of Administration. Claims for workers' compensation benefits should be made to the Director of Administration.

# 7.7 Life-Threatening Diseases

The District is committed to keeping the work environment healthy and safe for all employees, and has established these rules that employees should follow if an employee or a co-worker has or contracts a life-threatening illness:

- a) The District will treat life-threatening illnesses the same as other illnesses in terms of employee policies and benefits.
- b) If an employee has or contracts a life-threatening illness, the employee will be allowed to keep working, as long as: (a) the employee can meet the District's performance standards with a reasonable accommodation; (b) the illness does not actually endanger the health or safety of other employees or customers; and (c) the employee will not make their illness significantly worse by continuing to work.
- c) An employee may not refuse to work because they are afraid of contracting a noncontagious life-threatening illness from a co-worker, the employee may be subject to discipline or discharge. Employees may not harass or otherwise discriminate against a coworker who has a life-threatening illness. Employees who refuse to work with, or who

- harass or discriminate against any employee with a life-threatening illness, will be disciplined, up to and including discharge.
- d) In this manual, "life-threatening illness" includes cancer, heart disease, Lou Gehrig's disease, AIDS and other illnesses of a severely degenerative nature.

#### 7.8 Substance Abuse Policy

The District subscribes to federal and state law goals for a "drug free" workplace for the protection of employees and the public. The District prohibits the manufacture, distribution, possession, sale, purchase, exchange, negotiation for sale or purchase, or use of controlled substances in the workplace. Employees will not report for work, stand-by, or call-out duty, when under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or controlled substances. As used in this policy, "controlled substances" does not include lawful use of prescription drugs which do not impair essential job functions. As a federal contractor and recipient of federal funds, the District complies with federal law regarding the use of marijuana. The use of marijuana, including for medicinal purposes, is strictly prohibited while on the job.

An employee shall not be at work, or at any site where District work is or will be performed, drive a vehicle on District business, or operate any District equipment, with any amount of illegal drugs or alcohol in his or her system which, under the generally accepted standards applied by industrial safety consultants or hygienists, could be considered sufficient to impair the employee's ability to perform his or her job safely, efficiently or productively. Impairment which could constitute a disciplinary offense need not reach the level of impairment required for a criminal conviction for use of controlled substances or driving under the influence. For example, in the case of alcohol consumption, the .04% standard stated in California Vehicle Code § 23153 for determining driving under the influence by commercial vehicle operators would constitute impairment. Similar standards applied to commercial vehicle operators for impairment by other substances will apply. Employees may not report to work under the influence of illegal drugs. An employee with a lesser amount of alcohol or an impairing legal controlled substance in his or her system may also be considered impaired if, in the opinion of an industrial safety consultant or hygienist, such amount was in fact impairing under the circumstances. Consumption of alcohol on the job, possession of open containers of alcohol on the job, or the ingestion or possession of impairing controlled substances or illegal substances while on the job shall constitute per se violations for which termination is authorized. Any conduct on the job that constitutes, or knowingly aids and abets in the manufacture, distribution, dispensing, transfer, or

sale of controlled substances to any person, or that constitutes the provision of alcohol to a minor, shall constitute a per se violation of this policy for which termination is authorized.

When an employee is placed on medication from a health care provider licensed by the State of California to prescribe medications, which may impair his or her ability to perform essential job functions, that employee must immediately notify his or her manager before returning to work. The District reserves the right to require employees to provide proof that any prescribed medication will not impair the employee in the performance of normal duties and will not create an unsafe environment for other District employees or the public. For purpose of this policy a prescribed medication which is not prescribed for the subject employee is an "illegal drug."

An employee may seek counseling or treatment for alcohol or substance abuse privately, or through a District health insurance provider. An employee who voluntarily discloses a substance abuse problem will not be disciplined solely based on the above-described drug or substance abuse if the employee voluntarily agrees to a certified rehabilitation program and testing and remains in compliance with this policy.

An employee reasonably suspected of violating this policy, and who has not disclosed a substance abuse problem, will be requested to submit to substance testing which may require the employee to provide a sample of urine, saliva, or blood for chemical analysis. Any unreasonable refusal by the employee to submit to such testing may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination. Reasonable suspicion exists when significant and observable changes in employee performance, appearance, behavior, speech, etc., provide reasonable suspicion of being under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol. A refusal to consent will not be deemed to be "reasonable" unless the employee had a right to refuse to give such consent under applicable state or federal law.

No employee should consider any vehicle, desk, locker, toolbox or other facility, equipment, or property of the District to be his or her "private" property. The District may conduct unannounced searches of District vehicles, desks, lockers, toolboxes, facilities, equipment, computers and District property for illegal drugs or alcohol, or other unlawful contraband or unlawful use of equipment. Employees who do not cooperate during such searches will be considered insubordinate.

Searches of employees and their personal property may be conducted when there is reasonable suspicion that an employee is in violation of this policy. Any refusal to submit to a search could result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Violation of this policy may result in the following, depending on the severity of the violation:

- a) An employee testing positive for a controlled substance will be immediately placed on leave and may be required to complete a certified rehabilitation program approved by the District. The employee may be offered a "Last Chance Agreement" detailing terms under which the employee may be allowed to return to work following successful completion of a rehabilitation program. Failure of the employee to complete the program and required conditions (which may include follow-up testing) will result in immediate termination.
- b) Any employee testing positive for a controlled substance within one year following rehabilitation will be terminated immediately.

Any employee involved in the manufacture, distribution, or sale of a controlled substance, whether or not such action occurred at the workplace, or found to have provided a controlled substance to another employee, will be terminated. Employees who have been made a conditional offer of employment must submit to and pass a drug-screening test. Offers of employment are conditional and subject to the passing of a drug screen for prohibited substances. Failure of an applicant to pass or to submit to the drug screen will result in the applicant's disqualification for employment.

- a) Employees must provide, within twenty-four (24) hours of a request, verification of a current valid prescription for any potentially impairing drug or medication identified when a drug screen/test is positive. The prescription must be in the employee's name.
- b) Employees must notify their supervisor of any arrest or conviction under a criminal drug statute within five (5) working days of the arrest or conviction. (Disciplinary action shall not be taken based solely on the arrest, however, disciplinary action may be taken based upon the failure to notify);
- c) Failure of an employee to comply with this policy or failure to consent to "for cause" and/or pre-placement testing will result in termination or withdrawal of employment offer. Any attempt to adulterate, dilute, or substitute a test specimen is a "refusal-to-test."
- d) Employees shall be advised in writing of the District's Alcohol and Drug Abuse Policy and Program. Selected managers and supervisors shall attend at least one hour of training on alcohol misuse and at least one hour of training on controlled substances misuse, to include the following issues:
  - Alcohol and drug abuse recognition, symptoms and effects.
  - Methods of identifying and helping employees who might be suffering from personal problems that could signal possible alcohol or drug problems.

- Methods of referring employees who may be subject to the effects of alcohol and/or drugs to the EAP.
- District policies and procedures related to handling employees who appear to be under the influence.
- Documentation of observations and impressions of persons who show effects of alcohol and/or illegal drugs and reasonable suspicion.
- Alcohol and drug testing policy, rules, procedures, and safeguards.
- Benefit programs and alternatives available.
- Safety aspects of alcohol or drug problems in both work and social environment.
- Training shall be at District expense.

#### **Testing Requirements/Definitions:**

- a) Pre-employment testing: As a pre-qualification to assuming any position, prospective employees who have received and accepted a conditional offer of employment are required to provide a body substance sample (saliva, blood, or urine) for drug testing. This occurs in conjunction with the pre-employment medical examination.
- b) Fitness-for-Duty or Reasonable Suspicion Testing: Testing may be required if significant and observable changes in employee performance, appearance, behavior, speech, etc., provide reasonable suspicion of being under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol. If reasonable suspicion exists, the employee will be referred to a medical professional for evaluation. The medical professional will evaluate the employee, and, based on the evaluation, determine whether a test for drugs and/or alcohol shall be administered.
- c) Accident or Incident: Testing may be required when an accident or incident occurs which nature creates reasonable suspicion of impairment of ability or judgment due to alcohol or drugs. Post-accident alcohol tests shall be administered within eight (8) hours following an accident. A post-accident drug test shall be administered within thirty-two (32) hours following an accident.

An "accident" is defined as an incident involving a vehicle where, as a result of damage:

- 1) a vehicle must be transported away from the site of the accident; or
- 2) a vehicle cannot depart from the site in its usual manner without some repair and/or maintenance; or
- 3) a vehicle can depart from the site in its usual manner but will later require some

- repair and/or maintenance for safe operation; and/or
- 4) bodily injury occurs to the driver and/or another individual(s): which requires medical attention to said driver and/or another individual; and/or which results in death.
- d) "Legal Drug" includes prescribed drugs and over-the-counter drugs which have been legally obtained and are being used for the purpose for which they are prescribed or manufactured.
- e) "Illegal Substance" means any drug which is not legally obtainable, or which is legally obtainable but has not been legally obtained. The term includes prescribed drugs not being used for prescribed purposes.
- f) An employee is "Under the Influence" of an illegal substance, alcohol, or legal substance that interferes with an employee's ability to perform their essential duties, if any measurable amount of a substance, or a metabolite of that substance, is detected in the employee's circulatory system through a blood analysis, urine screen, or saliva test.

#### **General Information / Process:**

- a) District will make every effort to protect the confidentiality of drug and/or alcohol test results.
- b) Non-Compliance with a supervisor's request to submit to a fitness for duty test and/or drug or alcohol test under these policies, noncompliance with a supervisor's request that the employee leave the work area, or any other reasonable request designed to safeguard the quality of care, the working environment and/or safety of the workplace, the employees or the public, is viewed as insubordination and is subject to appropriate disciplinary action.
- c) Negative test results warrant re-instatement and pay for the time off work, unless other factors warrant termination or discipline, such as an admission of current illegal drug use or poor performance.
- d) Violation of any aspect of this policy may lead to corrective action, up to and including immediate termination of employment. Such violation may also have legal consequences.
- e) All test results will be reviewed by an appropriate licensed medical professional to ensure the positive results are not caused by legitimate use of prescription medication.
- f) Test results are not revealed to outside agencies or employees unless required by legal process including licensing agencies, unless the information is placed at issue in a formal

dispute between the employer and employee, to the extent necessary to administer an employee benefit plan (such as a health insurance plan), or where the information is needed by medical personnel to treat an employee during an emergency when the employee is unable to authorize disclosure. (31 C.F.R. 56.20(c).)

g) An employee suspecting another employee is under the influence, or smells of alcohol, is obligated to inform that employee's supervisor of his/her suspicion

# 7.9 Employee's Appearance & Dress Standards

All District employees are expected to dress appropriately for their duty environment and maintain good grooming habits and personal hygiene. Failure to maintain personal grooming, hygiene, and/or the wearing of any clothing that interferes with or disrupts the work environment or does not present a professional image within the office setting, is unacceptable.

- a) Employees are expected to report for work in neat, clean attire that presents a professional image. Examples of clothing that do not present a professional image include but are not limited to clothing that exposes the midriff or undergarments.
- b) The District will provide pants, shirts, and laundry service for full-time employees working in the Maintenance or Security Department. Employees that are provided uniforms and laundry service are expected to come to work in the provided uniforms... . The District will report to CalPERS annually at the end of the fiscal year total uniform compensation, not to exceed \$750.00, paid to employees hired by the District on or before December 31, 2012, or who are defined as CalPERS Classic Members.
- c) Employees required to wear safety or uniform boots shall be reimbursed for the actual cost of acquiring the boots in an amount not to exceed \$250.00 per fiscal year. The reimbursement is for one pair in a fiscal year.
- d) Any employee who comes to work in clothing that does not meet the above standards will be required by his or her supervisor to take immediate corrective action, which may include being asked to go home and change into appropriate attire. Leave without pay will be charged for time away from work.

# **7.10** Use of District Property

Employees are expected to use the District's property only for business purposes. This means personal telephone calls should be kept to a minimum, and employees should discourage friends and relatives from calling during business hours, unless there is an emergency. Personal long-distance

telephone calls are prohibited. Personal use of District supplies is to be kept to a minimum. When an employee leaves the District's employment, the employee must return all keys, documents, manuals and correspondence belonging to the District.

#### 7.11 Harassment

- a) Verbal, physical, visual and sexual harassment of co-workers, co-employees and members of the public is absolutely forbidden. Harassment can take many forms. Employees must be sensitive to the feelings of others and must not act in a way that might be considered harassment by someone else. A few examples of prohibited harassment (for illustrative purposes only) are:
  - 1) Verbal (racial, sexual, or ethnic jokes and insults);
  - 2) Physical (sexually suggestive or unwelcome touching, or obscene gestures); and
  - 3) Visual (insulting cartoons, sexually suggestive or lewd pictures or photographs).
- b) Sexual harassment may consist of unwelcome sexual advances, deprecating sexual remarks, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature.
- c) If an employee thinks they or one of their co-workers has been the victim of harassment, the employee must report the incident and the names of the persons to a member of the executive staff immediately. The incident will be investigated. If an employee does not report harassment, it cannot be investigated. Cooperation is crucial. There will be no retaliation against any employee by the District for making a complaint of sexual harassment.
- d) To accommodate the unique nature of harassment complaints, the following informal process is provided to resolve such a complaint at the earliest possible time:
  - 1) Employees wishing to complain of harassment should inform their immediate supervisor and the General Manager of the grievance, preferably in writing. The employee shall inform only the General Manager if the complaint is directed against the immediate supervisor. The employee shall inform the president of the Board if the complaint is directed against the General Manager.
  - 2) The General Manager after receiving notification of the complaint shall obtain a written statement by the immediate supervisor, assist in the interviewing of the accused parties and witnesses, and ensure the investigation is thorough and rapid.

- e) The District wishes to know of any complaint alleging harassment as soon as possible after it occurs. A formal grievance must be filed within thirty (30) working days of the date of notification of the results of the informal process. The General Manager after receiving the complaint may extend the filing deadline if the employee does not file a formal grievance within the time limits.
- f) The General Manager after receiving the complaint shall expedite and direct the investigation of the grievance and review information collected to determine whether the alleged conduct constitutes harassment by considering the record as a whole and the totality of the circumstances, including the nature of the verbal, physical or visual harassment and the context in which the alleged incidents occurred and recommend, in writing, appropriate action as soon as administratively possible, but no longer than thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of a complaint.
- g) If the decision of the General Manager is not satisfactory to the employee, the employee may appeal to the Board by filing a written request within ten (10) days of the notice of the decision.
- h) The General Manager shall provide a written report to the Board on harassment complaints and the results of the informal process and grievance review.
- i) The Board shall consider a request for review by an employee in closed session and may appoint a committee to investigate the charge. The Board shall render a decision on the employee's appeal within thirty (30) days.

#### 7.12 Retaliation

Retaliation is prohibited under state and federal law. Prohibited retaliation includes retaliation for any of the following actions: disclosing a possible state or federal law violation to a government agency, filing a formal complaint or charge against the District, refusing to participate in an activity that would result in a violation of state or federal law, exercising whistleblower rights in a current or former job, complaining about prohibited discrimination or harassment, or participating in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing related thereto.

#### **CHAPTER 8. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT**

#### 8.1 General

a) The District will consider an employee to have voluntarily terminated their employment if

they do any of the following:

- 1) Resigns from the District;
- Does not return from an approved leave of absence on the dated specified by the District; or
- 3) Fails to report to work and fail to call in for three (3) or more workdays in a row.
- b) Employees may be terminated for poor performance, misconduct, excessive absences, tardiness or other violations of the District's rules, or any of the reasons set forth in this manual.
- c) Employment with the District is at will and may be terminated for no or any reason, including reorganization, job elimination, economic downturns, or lack of work. Should the District decide such a termination is necessary, the District will try to give as much advance notice as practical. However, this may not be practical in all circumstances.

# **8.2** Separation Procedures

- a) When an employee leaves the District, they must return all supplies, keys, and other District property. The employee will also be able to talk about their employment and/or departure with Director of Administration. The employee will be asked to sign an exit form that states the employee has received their final paycheck and has returned all District property.
- b) The Director of Administration will provide the employee with information regarding any conversion or continuation rights the employee may have with respect to insured benefits.

# 8.3 Benefits on Termination of Employment

On termination (including, but not limited to, the termination by reason of death or retirement), a regular full-time employee's pay shall be prorated for each day worked, and the termination salary check shall include accrued unused vacation pay.

#### 8.4 Savings Clause

If any section, sentence, clause or phrase of these policies shall be declared inoperative, unconstitutional, void or invalid, the validity of the remaining portions shall not be affected thereby. It is the intent of the Board in adopting these portions that it adopts each separate portion of these policies.

# RECEIPT OF THIS EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK

I acknowledge that I have been given a copy of the District's Employee Handbook. I agree I will read and follow the information and rules in this manual.

Date:	
	Signature of employee
	Printed name of employee

**NOTICE TO THE EMPLOYEE:** The original of this form will go into your personnel file. A signed copy will be given to you for your own records.



# EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK

# **Table of Contents**

GENERAL	
Purpose and Scope	4
Changes	
Distribution	4
CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT	4
Positions Authorized	6
WAGES AND HOURS	8
Compensation	
Pay Periods and Pay Days.	10
Rest and Meal Breaks	
Timekeeping.	12
·	
Vacation Pay	14
Continued Benefits	
Health, Dental and Optical Plan	19
Short and Long-Term Disability	
Short and Bong Term Bisacine,	20
Workmen's Compensation Insurance	20
Workmen's Compensation Insurance	20
Workmen's Compensation Insurance	20 20
Workmen's Compensation Insurance	20 20 22
Workmen's Compensation Insurance  Tuition Assistance Program  Changes in Policy	20 20 22
Workmen's Compensation Insurance Tuition Assistance Program Changes in Policy JOB PERFORMANCE	
Workmen's Compensation Insurance  Tuition Assistance Program  Changes in Policy  JOB PERFORMANCE  Evaluations  Attendance and Absences	
Workmen's Compensation Insurance Tuition Assistance Program Changes in Policy JOB PERFORMANCE Evaluations	
Workmen's Compensation Insurance Tuition Assistance Program Changes in Policy JOB PERFORMANCE Evaluations Attendance and Absences UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE	
Workmen's Compensation Insurance Tuition Assistance Program Changes in Policy JOB PERFORMANCE Evaluations Attendance and Absences UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE Approved Leaves of Absence	
Workmen's Compensation Insurance Tuition Assistance Program Changes in Policy JOB PERFORMANCE Evaluations Attendance and Absences UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE Approved Leaves of Absence Pregnancy Disability Leave	
Workmen's Compensation Insurance Tuition Assistance Program Changes in Policy JOB PERFORMANCE Evaluations Attendance and Absences UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE Approved Leaves of Absence Pregnancy Disability Leave Medical Leave: Occupational Disability	
Workmen's Compensation Insurance Tuition Assistance Program Changes in Policy JOB PERFORMANCE Evaluations Attendance and Absences UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE Approved Leaves of Absence Pregnancy Disability Leave Medical Leave: Occupational Disability Military Service.	
Workmen's Compensation Insurance Tuition Assistance Program Changes in Policy  JOB PERFORMANCE  Evaluations  Attendance and Absences  UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE  Approved Leaves of Absence  Pregnancy Disability Leave  Medical Leave: Occupational Disability  Military Service  Jury Duty  Witness Duty  Voting Time	
Workmen's Compensation Insurance Tuition Assistance Program Changes in Policy  JOB PERFORMANCE  Evaluations  Attendance and Absences  UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE  Approved Leaves of Absence  Pregnancy Disability Leave  Medical Leave: Occupational Disability  Military Service.  Jury Duty  Witness Duty	
Workmen's Compensation Insurance Tuition Assistance Program Changes in Policy  JOB PERFORMANCE  Evaluations  Attendance and Absences  UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE  Approved Leaves of Absence  Pregnancy Disability Leave  Medical Leave: Occupational Disability  Military Service  Jury Duty  Witness Duty  Voting Time	
-	Distribution CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT General Equal Employment Opportunity Definitions Positions Authorized New Hires Outside Employment Personnel Records WAGES AND HOURS Compensation Pay Periods and Pay Days Rest and Meal Breaks Work Schedule Payroll Deductions Timekeeping Expense Reimbursement Holidays BENEFITS Eligibility for Benefits Vacation Pay Sick Leave and Disability Payments Continued Benefits Health, Dental and Optical Plan

7.3	Personnel Safety, and Security	29
7.4	Employee's Responsibility	
7.5	Electronic Communications	29
7.6	On-the-Job Injuries.	
7.7	Life-Threatening Diseases	
7.8	Substance Abuse Policy	
7.9	Employee's Appearance & Dress Standards	
7.10	Use of District Property	
7.11	Harassment	
7.12	Retaliation	
CHAPTER 8	. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	
8.1	General	
8.2	Separation Procedures	
8.3	Benefits on Termination of Employment	43
8.4	Savings Clause	
RECEIPT OI	THIS EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK	

#### **CHAPTER 1. GENERAL**

#### 1.1 Purpose and Scope

Mojave Air & Space Port at Rutan Field(formerly known as East Kern Airport District)

("District") has become world renowned as the flight research center for aviation and commercial space flight, hosting the latest and most advanced aeronautical designs. Numerous companies engaged in light industrial to highly advanced aerospace design, flight test and research, to heavy rail industrial make Mojave a true economic engine for the East Kern Region. Our success in achieving these responsibilities depends on efficient and skilled teamwork among all members of the staff. This handbook sets the framework for employment with the District.

The Employee Handbook is supplemental to those employment terms and conditions contained in the District's Board Policies. If any provision of this handbook is contrary to the Board Policy, the Board Policy is the governing and final authority on such matters. Finally, as a public employee your employment is held by statute, not contract, except as otherwise provided in a writing approved by the Board of Directors the District may, but is not required to, enter into written employment agreements with employees. Where this handbook and a written employment agreement signed by the District contradict, the written agreement controls.

#### 1.2 Changes

Apart from those policies required by law, District may change employment policies or practices at any time without further notice. This handbook may be amended only by the District's Board of Directors.

#### 1.3 Distribution

This handbook and amendments shall be distributed to all <u>District</u> employees with Mojave Air & Space Port.

#### **CHAPTER 2. CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT**

#### 2.1 General

Terms and conditions of employment are set forth in this chapter, except where the District and an employee have entered into a written employment agreement. No implied or unwritten employment terms or conditions exist. Except as otherwise specified by law, all employment with the District is at-

will. This means either the District or the employee may terminate the employment relationship at any time for any reason.

# 2.2 Equal Employment Opportunity

The District is an equal employment opportunity employer. Employment decisions are based on merit and business needs, and not on race, color, citizenship status, national origin, ancestry, sexual orientation, age, religion, creed, physical or mental disability, physical handicap, medical condition, marital status, veteran status, or other basis prohibited by law. The District makes reasonable accommodation for handicapped and disabled persons.

#### 2.3 Definitions

Unless otherwise apparent from context, the following terms are defined for the purposes of this Handbook:

District means Mojave Air & Space Port at Rutan Field.

Board means the Board of Directors of the District.

*Introductory Employee* means an employee who has not yet completed the introductory period.

Regular Employee means an employee who has completed the introductory period.

*Temporary Employee* means an employee who is hired for a specific project or determinate period, usually six months or less.

Part-time Employee means an employee routinely working less than 128 hours per month.

Full-time Employee means an employee routinely working at least 160 hours per month.

*Exempt Employee* means an employee who is exempt from the overtime pay requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act.

*Nonexempt Employee* means an employee who is covered by the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act.

*Year of service* means a period of one calendar year of continuous work from the date an employee commences work.

*Dependent* means the spouse and unmarried, dependent children eligible for coverage under the District's group health plan.

Executive staff means the CEO/GM, Director of Operations, Director of Administration, Director of Technology, Director of Planning, <u>Director of Facilities</u> and Director of Fuels.

PEPRA means California Public Employees' Pension Reform Act which applies to any

#### employees hired after January 2013.

#### 2.4 Positions Authorized

The District may engage full and part-time employees. The status of an employee shall be determined and documented before work commences.

#### 2.5 New Hires

- a) Offers of employment are contingent on verification of an employee's right to work in the United States. Before the first day of work, a prospective employee shall provide original documents verifying the right to work and sign a verification form required by federal law. If the employee cannot verify the right to work in the United States, the District may be obligated to terminate employment.
- b) Employment is contingent upon successfully passing a background check. All aApplicants will be required to complete an authorization/release form enabling such an investigation.

  Failure to complete the authorization form will exclude the applicant from further consideration for the open position.
- c) All employees must pass complete their pre-employment drug screen.
- Employees are introductory employees for the first six (6) months of employment. During this period, an employee will have an opportunity to learn their new position and see whether they wish to continue their employment. The District will use this period to determine if the employee is able to meet the District's expectations. Introductory periods may be extended for business reasons, because of permitted time off taken by the employee, or to further evaluate the employee.
- Employees who drive a <u>District</u> vehicles or <u>personal vehicle</u> in the course and scope of their employment must possess a valid Drivers' License and must remain insurable under the District's insurance policy. Employees will be requested to enroll in the Pull-Notice Program with the DMV. The District reserves the right to examine at any time the driving record of an employee whose job function requires him/her to drive for the District. All employees who are required to possess a valid driver's license must immediately notify Human Resources, of any suspension, revocation, or administrative withdrawal of their driver's license upon such loss. Such employees shall not, under any circumstances, operate a motor vehicle for the District when their driver's license is under suspension, revocation, or administrative withdrawal, or at any time they do not possess a

valid driver's license. If an employee operates a motor vehicle for the District without meeting the proper statutory license requirements or fails to notify Human Resources of loss of license as required here under, he/she may be disciplined up to and including termination.

d)f)During the introductory period, and the entire course of employment, employees are at-will employees. Successful completion of the introductory period is not a guarantee of continued employment.

#### 2.6 Outside Employment

An employee's position with the District is their primary work responsibility. So they can do their best work, employees are requested not to work full time for another employer while employed with the District.

#### 2.7 Personnel Records

- a) The District keeps a personnel file on each employee. The contents of the file, except for letters of reference, and certain other limited kinds of information, are open for an employee's inspection at reasonable times and at reasonable intervals, upon request. An employee may make copies of certain papers from their file. Employees must notify the Director of Administration if they wish to see or copy their personnel file.
- b) Employees must keep the District informed in writing of their current address and telephone number. An employee may desire to inform the District of personal changes, such as marital status or changes in the number of dependents, so their records and benefits are kept up to date.
- c) The District will keep personnel records private. However, there are certain times when information may be given to persons outside the District. These are:
  - in response to a subpoena, court order, or order of an administrative agency, or as required by law;
  - 2) in a lawsuit, grievance, or arbitration in which the employee and the District are parties;
  - 3) to administer employee benefit plans;
  - 4) to a health care provider;
  - 5) to a prospective employer or other person requesting a verification of an employee's employment, but only if (a) an employee gives the District a written

release allowing information to be given, or (b) the District is providing only the dates of employment, last or present job title, and the fact of employment.

#### **CHAPTER 3. WAGES AND HOURS**

#### 3.1 Compensation

- a) Compensation shall be established when the employee is hired.
- <u>b)</u> Compensation is based on actual hours worked. <u>Regular rate of pay will be paid for work</u> up to 40 hours in a week.
- c) Nonexempt workers must be paid overtime pay at a rate of not less than one and one-half times their regular rates of pay after 40 hours of work in a workweek.
- b)d) The DistrictAirport may consider approval of an alternate workweek schedule or flexible time for specific positions based on service levels and operational needs.

  Employees must obtain flexible time schedule approval by the General Manager. Alternate workweek schedules are based on business need, and are not an entitlement. An employee who works eight (8) hours or less in a workday, or forty (40) hours or less in a workweek, shall be compensated at the regular hourly rate.
- e) Regular working hours for permanent employees consist of five (5) consecutive days, forty (40) hours per week, or eight (8) hours per day. A split shift consists of work by permanent employees for five (5) non-consecutive days, forty (40) non-consecutive hours per week, or eight (8) non-consecutive hours per day.
- d)e) Full time employees, other than employees exempt under federal or state law, who work in excess of their assigned work week, or eight 8 hours in a day shall be paid at a rate of one and one-half (1.5) times the regular rate of pay for such excess work.
- e)—Part-time/temporary employees shall be paid at the rate of -one and one-half (1.5) times the normal hourly rate for work in excess of more than forty (40) hours per week., or eight (8) hours per day.
- f) Regardless of an assigned regular work schedule, the DistrictAirport has the right to require an employee to work any time before or after the regular workday or regular workweek including weekends, evenings, and/or holidays. Employees may be required to work overtime.
- f)g)Employees called into work outside of their regular shift shall be compensated Full time

employees upon completion of his/her normal daily work schedule or shift assignment, any employee required by the District to return to work, without prior notification, shall be compensated for at least two (2) hours of work at the appropriate rate of pay and may be required to put in two (2) hours of work time for compensation.

#### g) Part-time/temporary employees:

- 1) Same Day Call Out When an employee is called in for same day duty, he shall receive an eight (8) hour minimum regardless of actual hours worked, or if the work day is cancelled.
- 2)1) Scheduled Shift When employee is scheduled to work there is a four (4) hour minimum and if the work is cancelled on the day they are scheduled to work, he shall receive four (4) hours of pay.
- h) Overtime shall be approved in advance by the General Manager.
- i) A non-exempt employee may receive, in lieu of overtime compensation, compensating time off (CTO) at a rate of not less than one and one-half (1.5) hours for each hour of employment for which overtime compensation is required by law.
  - 1) The District will provide CTO under the following conditions:
    - (A) Pursuant to a written agreement entered into between the District and employee before the performance of the work in which the employee requests CTO in lieu of overtime compensation.
    - (B) The employee has not already accrued CTO in excess of forty-five (45) hours.
    - (C) The employee is regularly scheduled to work no less than forty (40) hours in a workweek.
    - (D) An employee may not accrue more than forty-five (45) hours of CTO. Any employee who has accrued forty-five (45) hours of CTO shall, for any additional overtime hours of work, be paid overtime compensation.—
    - (E) If compensation is paid to an employee for accrued CTO, the compensation shall be paid at the regular rate earned by the employee at the time the employee receives payment.
  - 2) An employee who has accrued CTO authorized to be provided under subdivision (1) shall, upon termination of employment, be paid for the unused CTO at a rate of

- compensation not less than the average regular rate received by the employee during the last three (3) years of the employee's employment, or the final regular rate received by the employee, whichever is higher.
- 3) An employee who has accrued CTO authorized to be provided under subdivision (i)(1) shall use that time by the end of the fiscal year in which it was earned. An employee who requests the use of CTO shall be permitted to use the time within a reasonable period after making the request; if the use of the CTO does not unduly disrupt the operations of the District.
  - (A) Upon the request of an employee, the District shall pay overtime compensation in cash in lieu of CTO for any CTO that has accrued for at least two (2) pay periods if exigent circumstances exist and it is approved by the Board.
  - (B) For purposes of determining whether a request to use CTO has been granted within a reasonable period, the following factors shall be considered:
    - (i) The normal schedule of work.
    - (ii) Anticipated peak workloads based on past experience.
    - (iii) Emergency requirements for staff and services.
    - (iv) The availability of qualified substitute staff.
  - 4) This section shall not apply to any employee exempt from the overtime provisions of applicable lawCalifornia and Ffederal Llaw.

#### 3.2 Pay Periods and Pay Days

- a) Wages shall be paid on a bi-weekly schedule every other Friday. Paychecks will include regular and overtime pay for all time worked during the previous pay period that have been included in their timecard.
- b) If an employee's vacation falls on a payday, the employee's check will be held until their return, unless prior arrangements have been made. Workweek begins at 12:00 a.m. on Monday and ends seven consecutive days later on Sunday at 11:59 p.m.
- —If an employee's vacation falls on a payday, the employee's check will be mailed held until their return, unless prior arrangements have been made.

h'	LC.	١ .	
-		,	

#### 3.3 Rest and Meal Breaks

a) Rest Breaks. The District encourages employees to take the following rest breaks: (i) An employee working at least three-and-a-half (3.5) hours or more may take a paid ten (10) minute break, and (ii) An employee working seven (7) hours or more may take two (2) paid ten (10) minute breaks. The District does not pay for rest breaks that are longer than ten minutes, and the employee is required to note on their time card all breaks longer than ten minutes.

b) Meal Breaks. An employee working five hours or more must take a thirty minute meal break.

Meal breaks are unpaid, and an employee must clock out when leaving for break and clock in when returning to work. If an employee is required by a supervisor to work during a meal break, the employee will be compensated at their regular hourly rate. Tower and Security personnel are considered mission essential and are compensated during the thirty minute meal break.

An employee working at least three and a half (3.5) hours or more may take a ten (10) minute break. An employee working five (5) hours or more may take a ten (10) minute break and at least a thirty (30) minute lunch break. An employee working seven (7) hours or more may take two (2) ten (10) minute breaks and a lunch break of at least thirty (30) minutes. Ten (10) minute breaks are compensated as hours worked. An employee working during any portion of their lunch break will be compensated for the work at the regular hourly rate. However, if their hours exceed forty (40) hours in a workweek, they will be paid time and a half (1.5) for hours over forty (40). TowerFirefighters and Security personnel are considered mission essential and will be compensated with pay for a half (½) hour working lunch period.

c) The District will provide reasonable lactation accommodation for employees who wish to express breast milk for their infant when they return to work. Employees may use their paid rest break times to express milk. If additional time is needed, it may be unpaid. The DistrictAirport will work with an employee to provide a private place to express milk in close proximity to the employee's work area or the employee's normal work area may be used if it allows privacy.

#### 3.4 Work Schedule

The normal work week is Monday through Friday. The District establishes work hours consistent with its operating requirements and responsibilities. Work shifts, days, hours and periods can be established and modified by the District within limits prescribed by law, based on operating conditions and requirements. Employees may not change their own regular work schedule without approval. Shift schedules vary by position. Employees are required to be at their assigned work

locations at their designated starting time, in appropriate work attire, ready to work. Each employee is expected to report to work soon enough to start the job at the beginning of the workday. The particular schedule of each employee may vary, according to their position/department. If an employee requests a change in their work schedule, the District will consider the request and may make the change.

TowerFirefighters and Security personnel shifts are set to meet mission requirements.

#### 3.5 Payroll Deductions

- a) Federal and state laws require the District withhold taxes from an employee's wages, including federal and state payroll taxes, Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA, also known as social security and Medicare), and California State Disability Insurance (SDI). Part-Time employees will have FICA taken from their payroll.
- b) An employee must inform the Director of Administration of a change in the number of the exemptions or marital status for federal or state tax withholding purposes.
- c) The District will comply with wage garnishment orders. A garnishment will reduce an employee's take-home pay.
- d) Full-Time PEPRA employees will be required to have the PERS payroll deduction.
- e)e) If an employee's medical insurance premium exceeds the Districts contribution the difference will be deducted from employee's check.

#### 3.6 Timekeeping

- a) Time cards are prepared electronically for each pay period by the employee or manager/supervisor, and are to be approved after the close of the pay period by the employee and manager/supervisor. It is important for employees to keep accurate time cards and submit when they are due. A time card is a legal document and must not be tampered with. Completing a time card for a fellow employee or falsifying one's own time card is dishonest and may lead to immediate discharge.
- b) Mandatory employee meetings count as hours worked. If an employee is required by the District to attend educational or training activities, the employee will be compensated at the regular hourly rate for their attendance time.
- c) Each employee must immediately notify the Director of Administration if a payroll check does not reflect time worked during the pay period.

#### 3.7 Expense Reimbursement

a) The District may require employees to use their vehicles on District business or may

- provide use of a District vehicle for District business. When travel is authorized by the District, an employee shall be paid pre-approved reasonable and necessary reimbursement for all expenses in connection with District business.
- b) Officers and employees shall be entitled to reimbursement for authorized use of their privately-owned vehicles in the conduct of business, at the mileage reimbursable rate set by the Internal Revenue Service.
- c) Expenses shall be submitted with an expense report. All receipts for purchases made on behalf of the District must be included with the report. Detailed information must be included in the report for mileage reimbursement.
- d) Automobile rental expenses shall be approved in advance by a member of the executive staff. Airfare reimbursement shall be at government or coach rate, if available.
   Taxi/<u>Uber/Lyft</u> fares are reimbursable only if shuttle service is not readily available.
- e) When an employee is authorized by a member of the executive staff to <u>travel</u>, <u>incur a</u> reimbursable meal expense, the employee <u>will receive the Standard Meals & Incidentals</u>

  Rate published by U.S. General Services Administration for the days they are on travel for <u>District business</u>. <u>shall submit paid receipts or other evidence the expense has been incurred</u>. In the absence of paid receipts, the amount of reimbursement shall not exceed twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) per day.
- f) When an employee is authorized by a member of the executive staff to incur a reimbursable lodging expense, the employee shall submit paid receipts or other evidence that the expense has been incurred. An employee may receive an advance on anticipated lodging expenses based on published rates. The advance shall be reconciled with actual expenditures within thirty (30) days following the activity.

#### 3.8 Holidays

- a) All regularly scheduled full-time employees will receive a normal day's pay at their normal rate for the following holidays: The District shall remain open except on the following holidays:
  - New Year's Day (January 1st);
  - Memorial Day (The last Monday in May);
  - Independence Day (July 4<sup>th</sup>);
  - Labor Day (The first Monday in September);

- Thanksgiving Day and the following Friday;
- Christmas Eve (December 24<sup>th</sup>)
- Christmas Day (December 25th); and
- New Years Eve (December 31st)
- Three (3) Floating Holidays.

Floating holidays will expire on December 31<sup>st</sup> without pay and hours will be added on January 1<sup>st</sup> for new and existing employees.

- b) If a holiday falls on Saturday, it will be observed the preceding business day. If a holiday falls on Sunday, it will be observed on Monday. If a holiday falls on a Tuesday or Thursday, the District shall determine when it shall be observed. Holidays that fall during a scheduled vacation do not count as a vacation day.
- c) Regular full-time employees shall be paid their regular <u>compensation salaries</u> for each holiday if the employee does not work. Regular full-time employees authorized to work on a holiday shall be paid <u>holiday and at one and one-half (1.5) times the hours worked at</u> regular rate of pay. for the hours worked, and the regular rate of pay for hours not worked.
- d) Part-time, non-salaried employees shall not be paid for holidays if the employee does not work. If a part-time employee works on a holiday, the employee will be compensated at the regular rate, unless the employee works overtime.

#### **CHAPTER 4. BENEFITS**

# 4.1 Eligibility for Benefits

The District provides the following employee benefits when the conditions have been met.

#### 4.2 Vacation Pay

a) Regular, full-time employees will accrue one (1) workweek of paid vacation during their first year of employment, which may be used as it is accrued. (1.54 hours per pay period). After the first year of service, regular, full-time employees shall earn two (2) workweeks of paid vacation (3.08 hours per pay period). After four (4) years of service, regular, full-time employees shall earn three (3) workweeks of paid vacation (4.62 hours per pay period). After completion of fourteen (14) years of service, regular, full-time employees shall earn four (4) workweeks of paid vacation (6.15 hours per pay period). Vacation benefits do not accrue when a full-time employee is on leave for any reason other than

- vacation or a District holiday. <u>Except for employees who may by written agreement have</u> established a different accrual.
- b) The scheduling of an employee's vacation is based on the District's operational needs and the requests for vacation and leaves of absence of other employees. All vacation requests must be approved in advance by a member of the executive staff. If there is a conflict in requests for time off, the person with the most seniority will be given preference. The District will also consider operational needs.
- c) Ifn the event that accrued vacation time is not used by the end of the <u>calendar</u> year, employees may carry over unused vacation hours, <u>but total vacation hours may</u> not to exceed two hundred and forty (240) hours. <u>Employees who have reached 200 hours the maximum accrual limit</u> are permitted to cash-out up to two weeks of vacation hours in one week increments within a fiscal year by completing the request form. Employees who have an exigent circumstance can request a cash out of unused vacation with approval from the CEO/General Manager. Unused vacation time may only be cashed out by an employee under exigent circumstances and upon approval by the Board of Directors.
- d) An employee may not take a paid vacation before accruing paid vacation time. If an employee takes a vacation but does not have accrued vacation time, the employee will not be compensated for the time off. If an employee takes more vacation time than is accrued and leaves the District, the amount of unearned vacation time taken will be deducted from the employee's final paycheck.
- e) Vacation benefits are not earned when an employee is on a leave of absence or suspended.
- f) Part-time employees who become regular, full-time employees shall complete twelve (12) months of full-time service before earning one (1) workweek of paid vacation days.

  Vacation pay accrues at the same rate for all regular, full-time employees.

#### 4.3 Sick Leave and Disability Payments

a) Persons employed full-time by the District for at least thirty (30) days in a Twelve (12) Month Period are eligible for sick leave as follows: sick leave shall accrue at the rate of 1.54 hours of paid leave for each pay period up to a maximum of One Hundred and Sixty eighty (16080) hours. Upon retirement, full-time employees with at least five (5) years but less than ten (10) years of service shall be paid for fifty percent (50%) of accumulated unused sick leave, and full-time employees with ten (10) or more years of service shall be

paid for one hundred percent (100%) of accumulated unused sick leave, paid at the employee's salary rate at the time of retirement. Except as expressly provided in this section 4.3(a), unused sick leave is not compensable at termination of the employment with the District.

- b) Sick benefits are not earned when an employee is on a leave of absence or suspended.

  a)
- Persons employed part-time, temporary, and per diem (collectively, "Part Time") by the District for at least thirty (30) days in a twelve (12) month period are eligible for three (3) days or twenty-four (24) hours of sick leave as follows: paid sick leave shall accrue at the rate of one (1) hour for every thirty (30) hours worked. Part-time employees may carry over six (6) days or forty-eight (48) hours of sick leave but may not use more than three (3) days or twenty-four (24) hours in a twelve (12) month period regardless of the amount carried over. Unused sick leave will not be paid out at the termination of a Part-time employee's employment with District.
- e)d) "Twelve (12) month period" means: (1) July 1 to June 30 for those persons employed by the District on July 1, 2015, or (2) the twelve (12) month period from their date of hire for those hired after July 1, 2015. If an employee's employment with the District is terminated and that employee returns to work for the District within twelve (12) months of the termination, that employee's sick leave shall be restored as it was at termination.
- d)e) Sick leave may be taken ninety (90) days after commencement of employment by the District or thirty (30) days of actual work, whichever is later. Sick leave may be used for preventive care or care of an existing health condition of an employee or the employee's spouse, domestic registered partner, child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, or sibling. Sick leave may also be used by employees who are the victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking. Full-time employees may use sick leave for bereavement leave, but not to exceed five (5) days in a twelve (12) month period.
- e)f) Employees may use paid sick leave upon oral or written request. If the need is foreseeable the employee must give the District reasonable advance notice, but where the need is unforeseeable an employee must give notice as soon as practicable.
- g) If an employee is hospitalized or out sick for more than seven (7) calendar days for an

- injury or illness not work-related, the employee should apply for State Disability Insurance (SDI) benefits. These benefits will be coordinated with sick pay.
- €)h) The Director of Administration may request a doctor's certification for sick leave for all injuries/illnesses event that exceed three working days.
- g)i)Sick leave may be used when adverse weather conditions create difficulty for employees to report to work or make it advisable for employees to leave work early. Employees who anticipate problems with transportation are encouraged to exercise personal judgment concerning road safety in their areas.
- h)j)Under the California Family Rights Act of 1993 (CFRA), if an employee has more than twelve (12) months of service with the District and has worked at least one thousand, two hundred and fifty (1,250) hours in the twelve (12) month period before the date the employee would like to begin leave, the employee may have a right to an unpaid family care of medical leave. This leave may be up to twelve (12) weeks in a twelve (12) month period for the birth, adoption, or foster care placement of the employee's child or for the employee's own serious health condition or the serious health condition of the employee's child, parent or spouse. If possible, the employee must provide at least thirty (30) days advance notice of a foreseeable event. For events that are not foreseeable, the employee must notify the District, at least verbally as soon as the employee knows of the need for the leave. Failure to comply with these rules is grounds for, and may result in, deferral of the requested leave until the employee complies. The District may require a certification from a health care provider before allowing a leave for pregnancy or the employee's own serious health condition, or certification from the health care provider of the employee's child, parent, or spouse who has a serious health condition before allowing a leave to take care of the family member. When medically necessary, leave may be taken on an intermittent or reduced work schedule. The basis minimum duration of leave for birth, adoption or foster care is two (2) weeks, and the employee must conclude the leave within one (1) year of such event. Taking CFRA leave may impact certain benefits and seniority.
- k) If an employee has worked for the District for at least one (1)- year and for one thousand, two hundred and fifty (1,250) hours over the past twelve (12) months, the employee may be eligible for unpaid leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA). Under the FMLA, leave is available (1) to care for the employee's child after birth, or placement for

adoption or foster care, (2) to care for the employee's spouse, son or daughter, or parent who has a serious health condition, or (3) for a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the employee's job. The employee must provide thirty (30) days advance notice when the leave is foreseeable. The District requires a medical certification to support a request for leave due to a serious health condition and may require a second or third opinion at District expense, and a fitness for duty clearance before return to work. Health insurance will be maintained under the group plan during leave. Employees will not be discriminated against for taking such leave, and employees taking such leave will retain the benefits they accrued prior to taking such leave. If you have any questions concerning leave, or require forms, please see the Director of Administration.

i)1) The District offers a Catastrophic Sick Leave-Donation Program to give employees a chance to support their co-workers who are facing a major health crisis, whether their own or that of a family member, as well as a death in the employee's immediate family. The program allows employees to provide assistance in the form of donated sick time. An employee shall be faced with or have incurred either a catastrophic illness or injury in order to be eligible for this program. The CEO/General Manager shall determine individual eligibility status. "Catastrophic" means: the employee is unable to perform the duties of their position because of a serious illness or accident or will require a lengthy recovery; there is a serious illness or accident which will require a lengthy recovery in the employee's immediate family; or there is a death in the employee's immediate family. The hours donated with be converted based on the monetary value of the sick leave donated.

#### **4.4** Continued Benefits

a) Permanent, full-time officers and employees are eligible for participation in the retirement program through the Public Employees' Retirement System (P.E.R.S.). Eligibility for participation in the program shall be determined on the basis of the contract between P.E.R.S. and the District. Employees hired prior to prior to January 1, 2013, are considered classic members for Miscellaneous and Safety. Employees hired after January 1, 2013, will receive retirement benefits calculated under the PEPRA 2013, The California Public Employees' Pension Reform Act of 2013, unless they have already been classified by CalPERS as a classic member. CalPERS determines the employee's classification based on individual circumstances if they are a previous CalPERS member.

b) Employees hired prior to October 1, 2017, that reach retirement age and who have been an active member of P.E.R.S. for at least five (5) years and their dependents are eligible for continued participation in the District's group medical plan. Employees hired after October 1, 2017 will be eligible for health benefits based on the resolution with CalPERS vesting schedule.

Based on their years of PERS service with the District, annuitants would be eligible to receive a percentage of the 100/90 formula amounts from the employer as follows:

Credited Years of PERS Service (5 of which must be performed at your agency)	Percentage of Contribution
10	50%
11	55%
12	60%
13	65%
14	70%
15	75%
16	80%
17	85%
18	90%
19	95%
20+	100%

The District shall pay the cost of such coverage. The District shall pay the cost of dental/optical benefits for retired officers and employees and their dependents in the same manner and to the same extent as active full-time employees.

#### 4.5 Health, Dental and Optical Plan

- a) Permanent, full-time officers and employees, including active directors, and their dependents shall be eligible for membership in the District's group health plan. Membership shall commence at the earliest date permitted by the plan. Except for benefits provided to former employees, health plan membership shall cease at termination of employment or office holding. The District will pay up to the following amounts monthly for the cost of group health plan membership:
  - (1) \$783.25.00 for an employee only;
  - \$1,487377.00 for an employee with one dependent; and
  - \$1,907766.00 for an employee with more than one dependent.

The District shall reimburse each employee for the deductible portion of the employee's group health plan, not to exceed \$500.00 per individual or family group per year. The employee shall present written proof satisfactory to the General Manager that such costs have been incurred before such reimbursement is paid.

b) Permanent full-time officers and employees, including directors, and their dependents shall be eligible for dental, optical, and audiology plan reimbursement after the 6 month probationary period at the start of their employment. The employee or director shall be reimbursed up to \$1,500.00 per fiscal year for dental and or optical expenses incurred by the employee, director, and each eligible dependent. Unused annual allowance may be rolled over for two years for employee, director, and each eligible dependent. The unused annual allowance must be used by the individual who rolled over the balance. -The maximum balance for a family is \$10,000. Unused annual allowances may not be carried over to subsequent years and will not be paid out as cash.

As used herein, the term "dependent" refers to an officer's or an employee's spouse and dependent unmarried children up to the age specified by federal or state law (currently, twenty-six (26) years old), dependents as defined by law for full-time students, and dependent children regardless of age who are physically or mentally incapacitated. Documentation is required from school to verify full-time status for dental coverage for children applies only up to twenty-three (23) years of age for full-time students.

c)

#### 4.6 Life Insurance

Permanent full-time employees receive the life insurance benefits of the District's health and accident insurance plan in an amount established by the Board.

### 4.7 Short and Long-Term Disability

Permanent full-time employees receive short and long-term disability benefits in the event the employee goes on leave of absence.

# 4.8 Workmen's Compensation Insurance

All employees shall receive the benefit of Workers' Compensation Insurance as provided by law.

## 4.9 Tuition Assistance Program

a) The District has a tuition assistance program to encourage employees to plan and direct their career and personal development, and increase their skill base for work with the

- District. The tuition assistance program provides financial aid and paid leave for educational courses and programs in accordance with the following procedures.
- b) All full-time employees with six (6) months or more of service with the District are eligible to participate in the tuition assistance program.
- c) Acceptable Courses and Programs:
  - 1) Basic reading, writing, English language, and arithmetic courses;
  - 2) Courses or programs to maintain or improve skills required in the employee's current job, or next higher-level job to which the employee aspires;
  - Courses or programs relevant to or required for a skill, license, certification, or degree appropriate to the individual's career development and the District's need for the particular craft;
  - 4) Specific degree programs, including GED, Associate, Bachelors, and graduate degrees in all areas relevant to the District's operations; and
  - 5) Test preparation classes for promotional examinations within the District.
- d) Acceptable Educational Institutions include accredited postsecondary institutions, certified correspondence schools and other institutions, organizations, or individuals approved by the District.
- e) The District maywill pay 100% of tuition costs (including Registration, books and laboratory fees) for acceptable course(s) or program(s) up to the maximum of Ten Thousand dollars (\$10,000), in the District's sole discretion, per eligible employee in any calendar fiscal year. The \$10,000 maximum benefit is available to employees who wish to further their education within their current work field at the District. If employees wish to pursue education not related to their current work field at the District, the maximum benefit is \$5,000. Tuition payments will be made directly to the educational institution or reimbursed to the employee upon completion of the course or program.
- f) Employee is required to bring in proof of the final grade of the course or program taken. If the employee does not show proof of the final grade within 60 days of completion of course, he or she will be required to reimburse the District, either by personal check or by payroll deduction, in full all funds paid by District.
- g) Employee will be required to have a grade of "B" or above for undergraduate and graduate degree programs, and a passing grade (e.g. "D" or higher) for all other courses. If

- employee does not achieve the required grade, he or she will be required to reimburse the District in full for funds paid by District.
- h) Employees receive regular wages and benefits when participating in any of the two (2) following leave arrangements:
  - 1) Personal time off: employees may rearrange their regular working hours to schedule a course or programs;
  - 2) Short-term leave: employee may request up to five (5) days leave per year to complete a specific educational activity during working hours.
- i) Procedure for Applying for Financial Assistance:
  - 1) The employee completes a payment request form available from Administration.
  - 2) The form is submitted to the employee's immediate supervisor who reviews and forwards it to the General Manger with a recommendation.
  - 3) The General Manger reviews, recommends, and forwards the request to Administration.
  - 4) If either the supervisor or General Manager disapproves the request, or the course or institution are unacceptable, Administration will meet with employee, to work out an alternative course of study.
  - 5) If approved by both the supervisor and General Manager, Administration confirms course(s) and institution eligibility.
  - 6) Upon completion of an academic term, the employee shall submit his or her academic transcript to Administration who will confirm compliance with this policy and forward the request to the accounting department to submit payment to the institution or reimbursement to the employee.
- j) Procedures for Applying for Educational Leave:
  - 1) Personal time off: the employee arranges with his or her immediate supervisor a modified work schedule.
  - 2) Short-term leave requests must be approved by supervisor and General Manager.

# 4.10 Changes in Policy

The District reserves the right to cancel or change the benefits it offers to its employees.

#### **CHAPTER 5. JOB PERFORMANCE**

#### 5.1 Evaluations

- a) The District may review the job performance of employees. The purposes of the evaluations are:
  - 1) to evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of the employee's work;
  - 2) to communicate these to the employee; and
  - 3) to set future performance goals.
- b) Employees are encouraged to ask specific questions about and to comment on their evaluation. Employees may offer written comments on the evaluation form. The employee may obtain a copy of the completed form. A good performance evaluation does not guarantee a pay raise, because pay increases may not occur every year, nor is a good evaluation a promise of continued employment.

#### **5.2** Attendance and Absences

- a) Attendance is a basic indicator of an employee's performance. An employee must report to work on time. If an employee cannot come to work, or will be more than a few minutes late, the employee must inform their supervisor a member of the Executive Staff of expected arrival time.
- b) Excessive absences, failure to report absences on time, and/or tardiness will lead to discipline, up to and including discharge. Absences are excessive if they occur frequently, or if they show a pattern. Absences immediately before or after a holiday and weekends are suspect. Frequent absences for minor complaints such as a headache or stomachache are also suspect.

#### CHAPTER 6. UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE

#### **6.1** Approved Leaves of Absence

- a) The General Manager may grant unpaid leaves of absence for the convenience of the employee. An employee's introductory period is extended by the number of days of absence. Temporary employees are not eligible for a leave of absence.
- b) Except as required by law, the District cannot guarantee the employee's position will be open upon return from an extended leave of absence. If the position has been filled or

- eliminated the District will try to find the employee a comparable position.
- Unpaid leaves of absence will be permitted for medical leave and non-occupational disability conditions.
- d) The District requires written proof from a licensed doctor that the employee's disability has started or ended before allowing the employee to take a leave or return from leave to assume full or modified duties with limitations. The employee must provide the following information as soon as known: (1) how long the employee expects to be on disability leave; (2) a doctor's certificate, or other medical proof acceptable to the District, showing the expected dates of the employee's disability; and (3) regular updates at least every week regarding the employee's medical status and the date the employee expects to return to work. Applications for leaves of absence for disability because of pregnancy or childbirth should be submitted at least two (2) weeks before the start date of such leave, if possible.

#### 6.2 Pregnancy Disability Leave

- a) Under the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA), if an employee is disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions, they may be eligible to take a pregnancy disability leave. An employee affected by pregnancy or a related medical condition, may also be eligible to transfer to a less strenuous or hazardous position or to less strenuous or hazardous duties if the transfer is medically advisable. The District will treat pregnancy disability the same as other disabilities of similarly situated employees. This affects whether leave will be paid or unpaid.
- b) The pregnancy disability leave is for up to four (4) months or eighty-eight (88) workdays for a full-time employee) per pregnancy for actual disability caused by your pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions. The pregnancy disability leave does not need to be taken in one continuous period of time but can be taken on an as-needed basis. Time off needed for prenatal care or morning sickness may not be covered by your pregnancy disability leave. An employee should consult their physician to obtain certification that the situation is covered by pregnancy disability leave.
- c) The employee may be required to obtain a certification from a health care provider confirming either pregnancy disability or the medical advisability for a transfer. The certification should include:
  - 1) the date disability due to pregnancy commences or the date of the medical

- advisability for transfer;
- 2) the probable duration of the period(s) of disability or the period(s) for the advisability of the transfer; and
- 3) a statement that, due to the disability, the employee is unable to work or to perform any one or more of the essential functions of the position without undue risk to the employee, the successful completion of the pregnancy or to other persons, or a statement that, due to the pregnancy, the transfer is medically advisable.
- d) At the employee's option, accrued vacation or other accrued time off may be used as part of pregnancy disability leave before taking unpaid leave. The employee may be required to use available sick leave. An employee may also be eligible for State Disability Insurance for the unpaid portion of leave.

#### 6.3 Medical Leave: Occupational Disability

If an employee is injured at work, the employee may be placed on Workers Compensation until: (1) a recognized medical professional certifies the employee is allowed to resume all of the duties of the employee's former position; (2) the employee is unable to come back to work in their position (i.e., the employee's condition is permanent and stationary); or (3) the employee resigns, quits, or otherwise indicates they are not going to return to their job.

#### 6.4 Military Service

Employees are eligible for military leaves of absence. The specific terms and nature of their right to return to their job after a military leave is governed by law.

# 6.5 Jury Duty

Employees absent for service on petit jury shall be paid regular district salary by endorsing the jury fees, less mileage payments, to the District.

#### 6.6 Witness Duty

An employee who is called to answer a subpoena as a witness in an official capacity shall be compensated at his /her regular rate of pay for all hours of absence from work due to answering the subpoena and provided the employee shows proof of the subpoena and deposits witness fees received for the hours, exclusive of mileage, with the District.

An employee subpoenaed to appear in court in a manner unrelated to his/her official capacity as a District employee shall be permitted time off without pay, or the employee may choose to use accrued vacation for this purpose.

#### 6.7 Voting Time

a)	If an employee does not have sufficient time outside of working hours to vote at a
	_statewide election, the employee may, without loss of pay, take off enough working time _
	_that, when added to the voting time available outside of working hours, will enable the
	_employee to vote.
b)	If an employee anticipates taking more than two hours off for voting, the employee should
	_notify the appropriate supervisor of this need. The time off for voting shall be only at the
-	_beginning or the end of the regular working shift, whichever allows the most free time for
	_voting and the least time off from the regular working shift, unless otherwise mutually
	_agreed.
c)	If the employee on the third working day prior to the day of election, knows or has reason
	_to believe that time off will be necessary to be able to vote on election day, the employee
	_shall give the employer at least two working days' notice that time off for voting is desired,
	in accordance with this section

# CHAPTER 7. DISTRICT RULES STRICTLY ENFORCED EMPLOYEE CONDUCT AND DISCIPLINE

#### 7.1 General

- a) Work rules are necessary to good management, employee safety, effective work, and fairness. Listed <a href="hereinbelow">hereinbelow</a> are examples of unacceptable conduct. Because it is not possible to list every possible form of unacceptable conduct, there may be other conduct not listed that is contrary to the District's interest that is not allowed.
- b) The District expects high quality work from its employees; and expects employees to conduct themselves in a businesslike manner. If discipline is necessary, it may take the form of an oral warning, a written warning, suspension without pay, demotion, reduction in pay, or discharge, at management's discretion. A negative performance evaluation will count as a written warning. The District has the right to determine what discipline is appropriate. There is no standard series of disciplinary steps the District must follow. In certain circumstances, an employee's conduct may lead to immediate discharge.
- c) If an employee is <u>discharged disciplined</u> the employee may follow the <u>Skelly process</u>. An employee who has been discharged, reduced in rank, or suspended for longer than ten

working days, may appeal the action to the Board by notifying the General Manager and the Board within fifteen day after receipt of the notice. Upon receipt of an appeal from an employee, the Board shall set a date for hearing. The Board may sit en banc or assign the matter to one or more directors to hear and decide the appeal. The Board, or the hearing officer, may compel the attendance of witnesses to testify under oath. procedure in Board Policy 300 – Personnel – for appealing such discipline. The Skelly process procedure in Board Policy 300 is the employee's sole recourse for an appeal of disciplinary action.

### 7.2 Violations for Which an Employee May Be Discharged or Disciplined

The following conduct may result in immediate discharge without warning: The following conduct will result in discipline. The type of discipline will depend on how serious the violation is and the specific facts and circumstances of the conduct. Discipline includes oral or written warnings, suspension, or discharge.

- a) Malicious or willful destruction or damage to District property or supplies, or to the property of another employee, customer, or visitor;
- b) Stealing or removing without permission District property or property of another employee, customer, or visitor;
- c) Acts of dishonesty, including obtaining employment with the District by lying or giving false or misleading information, falsifying any employment documents or records, including the employee's or a co-worker's time records, and other acts of dishonesty;
- d) Bringing or possessing firearms, weapons, or other hazardous or dangerous devices or substances onto District property without proper authorization;
- e) Possession, use, or sale of alcoholic beverages or illegal drugs on District property, or reporting for work under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs;
- f) Insubordination, including improper conduct toward a supervisor, or refusal to perform tasks assigned by a supervisor;
- g) Fighting on District property;
- h) Harassing, threatening, intimidating, or coercing another employee;
- Giving the District's products away free of charge, or at a discount, to any person, or in violation of the District's policies;
- j) Pleading guilty to or being convicted of any crime other than a minor traffic violation;
- k) Failure to follow District procedures for maintaining the confidentiality of the District's

- proprietary information or confidential customer information.
- Any violation for which an employee may be disciplined may, in appropriate cases, result in discharge.

#### 7.3 Violations for Which An Employee May Be Disciplined

The following conduct will result in discipline. The type of discipline will depend on how serious the violation is and the specific facts and circumstances of the conduct. Discipline includes oral or written warnings, suspension, or discharge:

<u>a)m)</u> Unsatisfactory job performance; \_Not following an established safety rule; Tardiness or excessive absence from work or work area, including taking too long for lunch and break periods; <u>d)p)</u> Leaving the District's premises or the employee's job during working hours without notifying the employee's supervisor and obtaining permission; e)g) Horseplay or any other action that is dangerous to others, or to District property, or that disrupts work; fr) Smoking in areas where "No Smoking" signs are posted; <u>working unauthorized overtime or failing to submit time records or overtime</u> records: h)t)Use of abusive or vulgar language; i)u)Carelessness or negligence in doing their job; <u>(i)v)</u>Using District equipment without permission; k)w) Possessing or removing District or employee property, food, or other items without permission; <u>1)x)</u>Sleeping while on duty; m)y) Abuse of sick leave; \_Inappropriate appearance or grooming; (a) Failure to notify a supervisor when unable to report to work, or unreported absences of three (3) consecutive scheduled workdays; bb) Discrimination, harassment, or retaliation, or failure to investigate discrimination or harassment, or violation of any other District, state, or federal workplace laws.

No soliciting or conducting non District business on the clock

<del>p)</del>cc)

# 7.34 Personnel Safety, and Security

The work environment must be safe and secure, and free from harassment. Employees must act in a professional manner toward fellow employees, customers, and members of the community. To maintain confidentiality of appropriate District information, it is important employees follow District's rules regarding dress, safety, and security.

#### 7.45 Employee's Responsibility

- a) Safety is a vital concern with the District and is one of the employee's most important responsibilities. Following the District's Injury Illness Prevention Program and all safety policies/procedures is essential. If an employee sees an unsafe condition, the employee must report it to their <a href="Immediate s</a>Supervisor or a member of the Executive Staff. The employee must also report all accidents, no matter how minor. The employee must also learn the location of the nearest first aid kit, fire extinguishers, and exits.
- b) The District requires all equipment and machinery be in proper working order and safe to work with at all times. If any equipment or machinery breaks down, do not use it until a qualified technician makes sure it is repaired and safe.
- c) Employees should not try to fix broken equipment or machinery themselves. Employees should notify their Immediate sSupervisor of any equipment breakdown as soon as it happens. If the breakdown requires emergency repairs, a member of the Executive Staff will try to deal with the emergency situation as soon as possible.
- d) From time to time the District conducts formal safety training. An employee's attendance at safety training sessions is mandatory.
- e) District employees may be exposed to confidential customer information, such as test and operations schedules and other proprietary information. It is the employee's responsibility to keep such information confidential and discuss only with other employees known to have access to the information.

#### 7.56 Computer Use Electronic Communications

#### a) District Property:

As a productivity enhancement tool, MASPDistrict provides and encourages the business use of electronic communications (including but not limited to voice mail, electronic mail, instant messaging, text and SMS messages, and fax). Electronic communications systems, owned by DistrictMASP, and all messages generated on or handled by these electronic communications

systems, including back-up copies, are considered to be the property of DistrictMASP. Any attempt to violate, circumvent and/or ignore these policies could result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination. In addition, electronic communications made in the course of employment are subject to the California Public Records Act.

# b) Authorized Usage:

District. Use of the District's computers is restricted to employees. Any non-employee use of the computers is prohibited unless prior authorization is given. Employees are prohibited from changing in any way the setup and structure of the computer network. Employees are forbidden from using DistrictMASP electronic communication systems for private business activities, personal, or amusement/entertainment purposes. Employees are reminded that the use of District resources, including electronic communications, should never create either the appearance or the reality of inappropriate use. Inappropriate use may result in loss of access privileges and disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

## c) Proper Usage:

Employees are strictly prohibited from using District computers, e-mail systems, and Internet access accounts for personal reasons or for any improper purpose. Some specific examples of prohibited uses include, but are not limited to:

- Transmitting, retrieving, downloading, or storing messages or images that are
   offensive, derogatory, off-color, sexual in content, or otherwise inappropriate in a
   business environment.
- Making threatening or harassing statements to another employee, or to a vendor,
   customer, or other outside party.
- Transmitting, retrieving, downloading, or storing messages or images relating to race, religion, color, sex, national origin, citizenship status, age, handicap, disability, sexual orientation, or any other status protected under federal, state, and local laws.
- Communicating confidential District information to individuals inside or outside the
   District or to other organizations, without specific authorization from management to
   do so.
- Sending or receiving confidential or copyrighted materials without prior authorization.
- Soliciting personal business opportunities, or personal advertising.

- Gambling, monitoring sports scores for monetary gain, or playing electronic games.
- d) User Passwords: Regardless of the circumstances, individual passwords must never be shared or revealed to anyone else besides the authorized user and issuer.
- e) User Identity: Misrepresenting, obscuring, suppressing, or replacing a user's identity on an electronic communications system is forbidden. The username, electronic mail address, organizational affiliation, and related information included with electronic messages or postings must reflect the actual originator of the messages or postings.
- f) No Expectation of Privacy: DistrictMASP may monitor and collect data about electronic communications and Internet use. Employees should expect that all information created, transmitted, downloaded, received, or stored on District computers, or other electronic devices may be accessed by the District at any time, without prior notice. Employees should not assume that they have an expectation of privacy or confidentiality in such messages or information (whether or not such messages or information is password protected), or that deleted messages are necessarily removed from the system.

#### g) Regular Message Monitoring:

- Contents of electronic communications may be monitored, and the usage of electronic communications systems will be monitored to support operational, maintenance, auditing, security, and investigative activities. The District reserves the right to disclose any electronic messages to law enforcement officials without prior notice to any employees who may have sent or received such messages. Employees should structure their electronic communications in recognition of the fact that DistrictMASP will, from time to time, examine the content of electronic communications.

  Employees are reminded that all messages are District records. Therefore, DistrictMASP reserves the right to access and disclose all messages sent over its electronic messaging systems or stored on its computers and electronic devices.
- h) Contents of Messages: Workers must not use profanity, obscenities, or derogatory remarks in electronic messages. Such remarks—even when made in jest—may create legal issues. Special caution is warranted because backup and archival copies of electronic mail may actually be more permanent and more readily accessed than traditional paper communications. Therefore, transmission of obscene, harassing or otherwise inappropriate messages is strictly prohibited.
- i) Message Forwarding: Recognizing that some information is intended for specific individuals and may not be appropriate for general distribution, electronic communications users should exercise

- caution when forwarding messages. DistrictMASP's sensitive information must not be forwarded to any party outside DistrictMASP without the prior approval of a local Department Manager.

  Blanket forwarding of messages to parties outside DistrictMASP is prohibited unless the prior permission of the CEO/General Manager has been obtained.
- j) Handling Information About Cyber Security: Employees must promptly report all information security alerts, warnings, suspected vulnerabilities, and the like to the Director of Technology.
  Employees are prohibited from utilizing DistrictMASP systems to forward such information to others, whether internal or external to DistrictMASP without prior authorization from the Director of Technology.
- k) Public Representations: No media release or advertisement, Internet posting, electronic bulletin board posting, electronic mail message, voice mail message, or any other public representation about DistrictMASP may be issued unless it has first been approved by the CEO/General Manager prior to usage.
- User Backup: If an electronic mail message contains information relevant to the completion of a business transaction, contains potentially important reference information, or has value as evidence of a DistrictMASP management decision, it should be retained for future reference. Most electronic mail messages will not fall into these categories, and accordingly can be erased after receipt. Electronic mail systems are not intended for the archival storage of important information, as stored electronic mail messages can be periodically expunged by systems administrators, mistakenly erased by users, and otherwise lost when system problems occur.
- m) Archival Storage: All official DistrictMASP electronic mail messages, including those containing a formal management approval, authorization, delegation, or handing over of responsibility, or similar transaction, must be archived/copied to individual user archive files within the Outlook email facility or Laserfiche.
- n) Purging Electronic Messages: Messages no longer needed for business purposes must be periodically purged by Employees from their electronic message storage areas (including Outlook's out boxes, in- boxes, and file folders). It is recommended that after ninety
- (90) days electronic messages stored on Outlook's e-mail systems be deleted by the individual users.

  After seven (7) days e-mail which has been sent to "Trash" will automatically be purged. Not only will this increase scarce storage space, it will also simplify records management and related activities. For Voice Mail, messages are saved for 30 days then purged. Undeliverable messages

- are automatically deleted.
- o) Harassing or Offensive Materials: Sexually explicit words and images, ethnic slurs, racial epithets, religious or political statements or anything else that may be construed as harassment or disparagement of others based on their race, national origin, gender, sexual orientation, age, religious beliefs, or political beliefs may not be displayed or transmitted. Unwanted telephone calls, electronic mail, and internal mail are strictly prohibited and are cause for disciplinary action including termination. Employees are encouraged to immediate report any offensive electronic mail messages, telephone calls, and/or other communication to their manager and the Human Resources Department.
- a) Use of the District's computers is restricted to employees. Any non-employee use of the computers is prohibited unless prior authorization is given. Employees are prohibited from changing in any way the setup and structure of the computer network. The District may, at any time, inspect any of the District's computers or other parts of its IT system. Employees have no right of privacy on any District computer or the IT system.
- b) The District's computer, voicemail, e-mail and facsimile systems are owned by the District, are public property, and may not be used for the conduct of personal business. Messages and files should be limited to the conduct of business. In addition, the District's computers and electronic data systems may not be used to: (1) solicit for commercial ventures, religious or political causes, outside organizations, or other non-job related solicitations without the permission of the District; and (2) send or receive copyrighted materials, trade secrets, proprietary information, financial information or similar material without prior authorization. The District reserves the right to review, audit and/or disclose any message or file composed, sent, or received within its computers or its systems. Passwords for any District electronic data systems are confidential and may not be shared with unauthorized persons.
- e) Employees are prohibited from using any District computer or electronic data systems in any manner that may reasonably be considered offensive or disruptive to another employee or violates any law.

#### 7.67 On-the-Job Injuries

a) If an employee is injured on the job, the employee must get medical treatment immediately. If necessary, an ambulance should be called. If the injury is less serious, the <a href="Supervisor">Supervisor</a> must make arrangements to have the employee taken to the doctor.

b) If an employee is injured while performing their job, they may be covered by the District's workers' compensation insurance. The employee must report the injury to their Immediate sSupervisor/Director of Administration Business Operations Director as quickly as possible, no matter how minor, and even if the employee does not need medical treatment. The Immediate sSupervisor will make a report of the injury as soon as possible after the injury happens and provide a copy to the Director of AdministrationBusiness Operations

Director. Claims for workers' compensation benefits should be made to the Director of AdministrationBusiness Operations Director.

#### 7.78 Life-Threatening Diseases

The District is committed to keeping the work environment healthy and safe for all employees, and has established these rules that employees should follow if an employee or a co-worker has or contracts a life-threatening illness:

- a) The District will treat life-threatening illnesses the same as other illnesses in terms of employee policies and benefits.
- b) If an employee has or contracts a life-threatening illness, the employee will be allowed to keep working, as long as: -(a) the employee can meet the District's performance standards with a reasonable accommodation; (b) the illness does not actually endanger the health or safety of other employees or customers; and (c) the employee will not make their illness significantly worse by continuing to work.
- c) An employee may not refuse to work because they are afraid of contracting a non-contagious life-threatening illness from a co-worker, the employee may be subject to discipline or discharge. Employees may not harass or otherwise discriminate against a co-worker who has a life-threatening illness. Employees who refuse to work with, or who harass or discriminate against any employee with a life-threatening illness, will be disciplined, up to and including discharge.
- d) In this manual, "life-threatening illness" includes cancer, heart disease, Lou Gehrig's disease, AIDS and other illnesses of a severely degenerative nature.

#### 7.89 Substance Abuse Policy

The District subscribes to federal and state law goals for a "drug free" workplace for the protection of employees and the public. The District prohibits the manufacture, distribution, possession, sale, purchase, exchange, negotiation for sale or purchase, or use of controlled substances in the

workplace. Employees will not report for work, stand-by, or call-out duty, when under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or controlled substances. As used in this policy, "controlled substances" does not include lawful use of prescription drugs which do not impair essential job functions. As a federal contractor and recipient of federal funds, the District complies with federal law regarding the use of marijuana. The use of marijuana, including for medicinal purposes, is strictly prohibited while on the job.

An employee shall not be at work, or at any site where District work is or will be performed, drive a vehicle on District business, or operate any District equipment, with any amount of illegal drugs or alcohol in his or her system which, under the generally accepted standards applied by industrial safety consultants or hygienists, could be considered sufficient to impair the employee's ability to perform his or her job safely, efficiently or productively. Impairment which could constitute a disciplinary offense need not reach the level of impairment required for a criminal conviction for use of controlled substances or driving under the influence. For example, in the case of alcohol consumption, the .04% standard stated in California Vehicle Code § 23153 for determining driving under the influence by commercial vehicle operators would constitute impairment. Similar standards applied to commercial vehicle operators for impairment by other substances will apply. Employees may not report to work under the influence of illegal drugs. An employee with a lesser amount of alcohol or an impairing legal controlled substance in his or her system may also be considered impaired if, in the opinion of an industrial safety consultant or hygienist, such amount was in fact impairing under the circumstances. Consumption of alcohol on the job, possession of open containers of alcohol on the job, or the ingestion or possession of impairing controlled substances or illegal substances while on the job shall constitute per se violations for which termination is authorized. Any conduct on the job that constitutes, or knowingly aids and abets in the manufacture, distribution, dispensing, transfer, or sale of controlled substances to any person, or that constitutes the provision of alcohol to a minor, shall constitute a per se violation of this policy for which termination is authorized.

When an employee is placed on medication from a health care provider licensed by the State of California to prescribe medications, which may impair his or her ability to perform essential job functions, that employee must immediately notify his or her manager before returning to work. The District reserves the right to require employees to provide proof that any prescribed medication will not impair the employee in the performance of normal duties and will not create an unsafe environment for other District employees or the public. For purpose of this policy a prescribed

medication which is not prescribed for the subject employee is an "illegal drug."

An employee may seek counseling or treatment for alcohol or substance abuse privately, or through a District health insurance provider. An employee who voluntarily discloses a substance abuse problem will not be disciplined solely based on the above-described drug or substance abuse if the employee voluntarily agrees to a certified rehabilitation program and testing and remains in compliance with this policy.

An employee reasonably suspected of violating this policy, and who has not disclosed a substance abuse problem, will be requested to submit to substance testing which may require the employee to provide a sample of urine, saliva, or blood for chemical analysis. Any unreasonable refusal by the employee to submit to such testing may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination. Reasonable suspicion exists when significant and observable changes in employee performance, appearance, behavior, speech, etc., provide reasonable suspicion of being under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol. A refusal to consent will not be deemed to be "reasonable" unless the employee had a right to refuse to give such consent under applicable state or federal law.

No employee should consider any vehicle, desk, locker, toolbox or other facility, equipment, or property of the District to be his or her "private" property. The District may conduct unannounced searches of District vehicles, desks, lockers, toolboxes, facilities, equipment, computers and District property for illegal drugs or alcohol, or other unlawful contraband or unlawful use of equipment. Employees who do not cooperate during such searches will be considered insubordinate.

Searches of employees and their personal property may be conducted when there is reasonable suspicion that an employee is in violation of this policy. Any refusal to submit to a search could result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Violation of this policy may result in the following, depending on the severity of the violation:

- a) An employee testing positive for a controlled substance will be immediately placed on leave and may be required to complete a certified rehabilitation program approved by the District. The employee may be offered a "Last Chance Agreement" detailing terms under which the employee may be allowed to return to work following successful completion of a rehabilitation program. Failure of the employee to complete the program and required conditions (which may include follow-up testing) will result in immediate termination.
- b) Any employee testing positive for a controlled substance within one year following rehabilitation will be terminated immediately.

Any employee involved in the manufacture, distribution, or sale of a controlled substance, whether or not such action occurred at the workplace, or found to have provided a controlled substance to another employee, will be terminated. Employees who have been made a conditional offer of employment must submit to and pass a drug-screening test. Offers of employment are conditional and subject to the passing of a drug screen for prohibited substances. Failure of an applicant to pass or to submit to the drug screen will result in the applicant's disqualification for employment.

- a) Employees must provide, within twenty-four (24) hours of a request, verification of a current valid prescription for any potentially impairing drug or medication identified when a drug screen/test is positive. The prescription must be in the employee's name.
- b) Employees must notify their supervisor of any arrest or conviction under a criminal drug statute within five (5) working days of the arrest or conviction. (Disciplinary action shall not be taken based solely on the arrest, however, disciplinary action may be taken based upon the failure to notify);
- c) Failure of an employee to comply with this policy or failure to consent to "for cause" and/or pre-placement testing will result in termination or withdrawal of employment offer. Any attempt to adulterate, dilute, or substitute a test specimen is a "refusal-to-test."
- d) Employees shall be advised in writing of the District's Alcohol and Drug Abuse Policy and Program. Selected managers and supervisors shall attend at least one hour of training on alcohol misuse and at least one hour of training on controlled substances misuse, to include the following issues:

#### **Employee Assistance Programs ("EAP")**

•

- Alcohol and drug abuse recognition, symptoms and effects.
- Methods of identifying and helping employees who might be suffering from personal problems that could signal possible alcohol or drug problems.
- Methods of referring employees who may be subject to the effects of alcohol anandd/or drugs to the EAP.

a) District policies and procedures related to handling employees who appear to be under the influence. District policies and procedures related to handling employees who appear to be under the influence.

b) Documentation of observations and impressions of persons who show

effects of alcohol and/or illegal drugs and reasonable suspicion.

- Alcohol and drug testing policy, rules, procedures, and safeguards.
- Benefit programs and alternatives available.
- Safety aspects of alcohol or drug problems in both work and social environment.
- <u>f</u>)• Training shall be at District expense.

#### **Testing Requirements/Definitions:**

- a) Pre-employment testing: As a pre-qualification to assuming any position, prospective employees who have received and accepted a conditional offer of employment are required to provide a body substance sample (saliva, blood, or urine) for drug testing. This occurs in conjunction with the pre-employment medical examination.
- b) Fitness-for-Duty or Reasonable Suspicion Testing: Testing may be required if significant and observable changes in employee performance, appearance, behavior, speech, etc., provide reasonable suspicion of being under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol. If reasonable suspicion exists, the employee will be referred to a medical professional for evaluation. The medical professional will evaluate the employee, and, based on the evaluation, determine whether a test for drugs and/or alcohol shall be administered.
- c) Accident or Incident: Testing may be required when an accident or incident occurs which nature creates reasonable suspicion of impairment of ability or judgment due to alcohol or drugs. Post-accident alcohol tests shall be administered within eight (8) hours following an accident. A post-accident drug test shall be administered within thirty-two (32) hours following an accident.

An "accident" is defined as an incident involving a vehicle where, as a result of damage:

- 1) a vehicle must be transported away from the site of the accident; or
- a vehicle cannot depart from the site in its usual manner without some repair and/or maintenance; or
- 3) a vehicle can depart from the site in its usual manner but will later require some repair and/or maintenance for safe operation; and/or
- 4) bodily injury occurs to the driver and/or another individual(s): which requires medical attention to said driver and/or another individual; and/or which results in death.

- d) "Legal Drug" includes prescribed drugs and over-the-counter drugs which have been legally obtained and are being used for the purpose for which they are prescribed or manufactured.
- e) "Illegal Substance" means any drug which is not legally obtainable, or which is legally obtainable but has not been legally obtained. The term includes prescribed drugs not being used for prescribed purposes.
- f) An employee is "Under the Influence" of an illegal substance, alcohol, or legal substance that interferes with an employee's ability to perform their essential duties, if any measurable amount of a substance, or a metabolite of that substance, is detected in the employee's circulatory system through a blood analysis, urine screen, or saliva test.

#### **General Information / Process:**

- a) District will make every effort to protect the confidentiality of drug and/or alcohol test results.
- b) Non-Compliance with a supervisor's request to submit to a fitness for duty test and/or drug or alcohol test under these policies, noncompliance with a supervisor's request that the employee leave the work area, or any other reasonable request designed to safeguard the quality of care, the working environment and/or safety of the workplace, the employees or the public, is viewed as insubordination and is subject to appropriate disciplinary action.
- c) Negative test results warrant re-instatement and pay for the time off work, unless other factors warrant termination or discipline, such as an admission of current illegal drug use or poor performance.
- d) Violation of any aspect of this policy may lead to corrective action, up to and including immediate termination of employment. Such violation may also have legal consequences.
- e) All test results will be reviewed by an appropriate licensed medical professional to ensure the positive results are not caused by legitimate use of prescription medication.
- f) Test results are not revealed to outside agencies or employees unless required by legal process including licensing agencies, unless the information is placed at issue in a formal dispute between the employer and employee, to the extent necessary to administer an employee benefit plan (such as a health insurance plan), or where the information is needed by medical personnel to treat an employee during an emergency when the employee is unable to authorize disclosure. (31 C.F.R. 56.20(c).)

g) An employee suspecting another employee is under the influence, or smells of alcohol, is obligated to inform that employee's supervisor of his/her suspicion

#### 7.910 Employee's Appearance & Dress Standards

All District employees are expected to dress appropriately for their duty environment and maintain good grooming habits and personal hygiene. Failure to maintain personal grooming, hygiene, and/or the wearing of any clothing that interferes with or disrupts the work environment or does not present a professional image within the office setting, is unacceptable.

- a) Employees are expected to report for work in neat, clean attire that presents a professional image. Examples of clothing that do not present a professional image include but are not limited to clothing that exposes the midriff or undergarments.
- b) The District will provide pants, shirts, and laundry service for full-time employees working in the Maintenance or Security Department. Employees that are provided uniforms and laundry service are expected to come to work in the provided uniforms. Fire Department. If an employee does not feel the uniform provider can supply appropriate uniform pants, the employee can obtain permission from the Supervisor to provide, maintain, and launder his/her own pants. The District will reimburse the employee for the cost of pants in an amount not to exceed \$60.00 per fiscal year. The District will report to CalPERS annually at the end of the fiscal year total uniform compensation, not to exceed \$750.00, paid to employees hired by the District Mojave Air & Space Port on or before December 31, 2012, or who are defined as CalPERS Classic Members.
- c) Employees required to wear <u>safety or uniform</u> boots in <u>Maintenance and Fire Department</u> shall be reimbursed for the actual cost of acquiring <u>the safety</u> boots in an amount not to exceed \$250.0080.00 per fiscal year. <u>The reimbursement is for one pair in a fiscal year.</u>
- d) Any employee who comes to work in clothing that does not meet the above standards will be required by his or her supervisor to take immediate corrective action, which may include being asked to go home and change into appropriate attire. Leave without pay will be charged for time away from work.

# 7.101 Use of District Property

Employees are expected to use the District's property only for business purposes. This means personal telephone calls should be kept to a minimum, and employees should discourage friends and relatives from calling during business hours, unless there is an emergency. Personal long-distance

telephone calls are prohibited. Personal use of District supplies is to be kept to a minimum. When an employee leaves the District's employ<u>ment</u>, the employee must return all keys, documents, manuals and correspondence belonging to the District.

#### 7.112 Harassment

- a) Verbal, physical, visual and sexual harassment of co-workers, co-employees and members of the public is absolutely forbidden. Harassment can take many forms. Employees must be sensitive to the feelings of others and must not act in a way that might be considered harassment by someone else. A few examples of prohibited harassment (for illustrative purposes only) are:
  - 1) Verbal (racial, sexual, or ethnic jokes and insults);
  - 2) Physical (sexually suggestive or unwelcome touching, or obscene gestures); and
  - 3) Visual (insulting cartoons, sexually suggestive or lewd pictures or photographs).
- b) Sexual harassment may consist of unwelcome sexual advances, deprecating sexual remarks, requests for sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature.
- c) If an employee thinks they or one of their co-workers has been the victim of harassment, the employee must report the incident and the names of the persons to a member of the executive staff immediately. The incident will be investigated. If an employee does not report harassment, it cannot be investigated. Cooperation is crucial. There will be no retaliation against any employee by the District for making a complaint of sexual harassment.
- d) To accommodate the unique nature of harassment complaints, the following informal process is provided to resolve such a complaint at the earliest possible time:
  - 1) Employees wishing to complain of harassment should inform their immediate supervisor and the General Manager of the grievance, preferably in writing. The employee shall inform only the General Manager if the complaint is directed against the immediate supervisor. The employee shall inform the president of the Board if the complaint is directed against the General Manager.
  - 2) The General Manager after receiving notification of the complaint shall obtain a written statement by the immediate supervisor, assist in the interviewing of the accused parties and witnesses, and ensure the investigation is thorough and rapid.

- e) The District wishes to know of any complaint alleging harassment as soon as possible after it occurs. A formal grievance must be filed within thirty (30) working days of the date of notification of the results of the informal process. The General Manager after receiving the complaint may extend the filing deadline if the employee does not file a formal grievance within the time limits.
- f) The General Manager after receiving the complaint shall expedite and direct the investigation of the grievance and review information collected to determine whether the alleged conduct constitutes harassment by considering the record as a whole and the totality of the circumstances, including the nature of the verbal, physical or visual harassment and the context in which the alleged incidents occurred and recommend, in writing, appropriate action as soon as administratively possible, but no longer than thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of a complaint.
- g) If the decision of the General Manager is not satisfactory to the employee, the employee may appeal to the Board by filing a written request within ten (10) days of the notice of the decision.
- h) The General Manager shall provide a written report to the Board on harassment complaints and the results of the informal process and grievance review.
- i) The Board shall consider a request for review by an employee in closed session and may appoint a committee to investigate the charge. The Board shall render a decision on the employee's appeal within thirty (30) days.

#### 7.123 Retaliation

Retaliation, ais prohibited under state and federal law, is not permitted. Prohibited retaliation includes retaliation for any of the following actions: disclosing a possible state or federal law violation to a government agency, filing a formal complaint or charge against the District, refusing to participate in an activity that would result in a violation of state or federal law, exercising whistleblower rights in a current or former job, complaining about prohibited discrimination or harassment, or participating in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing related thereto.

#### **CHAPTER 8. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT**

#### 8.1 General

a) The District will consider an employee to have voluntarily terminated their employment if

they do any of the following:

- 1) Resigns from the District;
- Does not return from an approved leave of absence on the dated specified by the District; or
- 3) Fails to report to work and fail to call in for three (3) or more workdays in a row.
- b) Employees may be terminated for poor performance, misconduct, excessive absences, tardiness or other violations of the District's rules, or any of the reasons set forth in Section 7.2 and 7.3 of this manual.
- c) Employment with the District is at will and may be terminated for no or any reason, including reorganization, job elimination, economic downturns, or lack of work. Should the District decide such a termination is necessary, the District will try to give as much advance notice as practical. However, this may not be practical in all circumstances.

#### **8.2** Separation Procedures

- a) When an employee leaves the District, they must return all supplies, keys, and other District property. The employee will also be able to talk about their employment and/or departure with Director of Administration. The employee will be asked to sign an exit form that states the employee has received their final paycheck and has returned all District property.
- b) The Director of Administration will provide the employee with information regarding any conversion or continuation rights the employee may have with respect to insured benefits.

#### **8.3** Benefits on Termination of Employment

On termination (including, but not limited to, the termination by reason of death or retirement), a regular full-time employee's pay shall be prorated for each day worked, and the termination salary check shall include accrued unused vacation pay.

#### 8.4 Savings Clause

If any section, sentence, clause or phrase of these policies shall be declared inoperative, unconstitutional, void or invalid, the validity of the remaining portions shall not be affected thereby. It is the intent of the Board in adopting these portions that it adopts each separate portion of these policies.

# RECEIPT OF THIS EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK

I acknowledge that I have been given a copy of the District's Employee Handbook. I agree I will read and follow the information and rules in this manual.

Date:	
	Signature of employee
	Printed name of employee

**NOTICE TO THE EMPLOYEE:** The original of this form will go into your personnel file. A signed copy will be given to you for your own records.



FROM: Chris Spandorf, Security Chief

**SUBJECT:** Surplus Vehicles

**MEETING DATE:** March 1, 2022

### **Background:**

The property listed in the Exhibit A to the resolution is no longer used or necessary for District operations. As such, staff recommends declaring the property surplus and authorizing its disposal.

#### **Impacts:**

Fiscal: All proceeds of sale/disposal of property will be deposited into the General Fund account.

Environmental: None

Legal: None

# **Recommended Action:**

Approve the resolution declaring the property in the exhibit to be surplus to the needs of the Airport and authorizing its disposal.

#### RESOLUTION NO.

#### A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MOJAVE AIR AND SPACE PORT DECLARING CERTAIN PROPERTY SURPLUS TO THE NEEDS OF THE DISTRICT AND AUTHORIZING DISPOSITION OF THE PROPERTY

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MOJAVE AIR AND SPACE PORT as follows:

## 1. Purpose.

This resolution declares certain property surplus to the needs of the District and authorizes the Chief Executive Officer to dispose of such property.

#### 2. Disposition of Property.

The Board finds and declares:

- (a) The property identified in Exhibit 1 (the "Surplus Property"), attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, is surplus to and no longer suitable for the District's needs.
- (b) The District's Chief Executive Officer is directed to dispose of the Surplus Property in a manner in the best interests of the District.
- (c) The Chief Executive Officer is authorized to determine which offer to acquire the Surplus Property is in the best interests of the District.
- (d) If no offers are received the Chief Executive Officer is authorized to dispose of the Surplus Property in a manner that is in the best interests of the District and in accordance with law.
- (e) The District's Chief Executive Officer shall report the results of the disposal of the property to the Board of Directors.

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED on March 1, 2022.

ATTEST:	Diane Barney, President
Jimmy R. Balentine, Secretary	
(SEAL)	

3.1.22 BOD Exhibit A							
	Surplus Property						
<u>Year</u>	Make/Model	Last 4 VIN	<u>Notes</u>				
2009	Ford Escape Hybrid	0214	High Mileage, Cost to repair exceeds vehicle value.				
2008	Ford Escape Hybrid	8873	High Mileage, Cost to repair exceeds vehicle value.				

# Mojave Air & Space Port Treasurer's Report For the month ended January 31, 2022

County	
--------	--

	General	Treasury	LAIF	Total
Beginning Balance	\$ 3,097,761.93	\$ 1,434,329.37	\$ 4,182,533.91	\$ 8,714,625.21
Receipts:		_		
Operating Revenues	918,829.39	-	-	918,829.39
Interest Income	135.07	2,450.18	2,407.86	4,993.11
Tax Proceeds		30,542.67		30,542.67
Total Receipts	918,964.46	32,992.85	2,407.86	954,365.17
Expenditures:				
Operating Expenses	(702,801.81)		-	(702,801.81)
Project Expenses				<u> </u>
Total Expenditures	(702,801.81)			(702,801.81)
Transfers:				
Between General and County Treasury	-	-	-	-
Between General and LAIF				
Total Transfers				
Ending Balance	\$ 3,313,924.58	\$ 1,467,322.22	\$ 4,184,941.77	\$ 8,966,188.57

# **MOJAVE AIR & SPACE PORT**

# Revenue and Expense by Function For the Seven Months Ending Monday, January 31, 2022

	Rents & Leases	Rents & Leases	Flight Related	Non-flight Related	
Description	Aviation	Non-aviation	Activities	Activities	Total
Operating Revenue					
Fuel Sales & Services	-	-	1,690,550	-	1,690,550
Cost of Fuel & Lubricants Sold	-	-	1,145,525	-	1,145,525
Gross Profit on Fuel Sales &					
Services	-	-	545,025		545,025
Rents & Leases	3,050,422	1,094,569	3,420	7,147	4,155,559
Other Revenue	2 050 422	4 004 500	47,528	43,598	91,126
Total Operating Revenue	3,050,422	1,094,569	595,973	50,746	4,791,711
Operating Expense Salaries & Benefits	660 730	462 707	620.072	205 529	2.059.027
	669,730	462,797	629,972	295,538	2,058,037
Noncapitalized Equipment	34,121	21,237 20,038	8,893	5,435 11,810	69,686
Supplies Licensing & Software	35,686 25,136	20,038 15,648	29,666 6,593	4,352	97,200 51,730
Communications	12,157	7,791	5,806	4,332 3,016	28,771
Training & Travel	3,798	2,560	5,062	8,395	19,815
Permits & Fees	1,706	3,777	2,451	6,393	7,934
Repairs & Maintenance	212,857	112,714	64,014	4,801	394,386
Engineering Services	28,531	12,473	6,883	4,088	51,975
Legal & Accounting Services	62,014	-	-	73,636	135,650
Operating Services	158,370	46,887	47,013	21,358	273,628
Dues & Subscriptions	10,282	7,088	6,938	23,525	47,832
Insurance	40,718	40,718	40,718	156,035	278,188
Marketing	3,362	1,258	976	14,901	20,496
Rent Expense	8,332	3,461	26,061	528	38,382
Utilities	78,507	111,327	21,022	8,431	219,287
Tenant Retention	10,280	10,280	,	-	20,560
Miscellaneous	1,978	619	12,192	17,844	32,633
Depreciation	494,643	1,243	1,037,073	, -	1,532,959
Expense Reimbursements	-	, -	(14,933)	(52,590)	(67,523)
Total Operating Expense	1,892,208	881,917	1,936,398	601,103	5,311,626
Excess (Deficit) of Operating		•		•	
Revenue over Operating					
Expense	1,158,214	212,653	(1,340,425)	(550,358)	(519,916)
Nonoperating Revenue					
Property Taxes	331,818	110,606	-	-	442,424
Interest Income	-	-	-	14,048	14,048
Total Nonoperating Revenue	331,818	110,606	-	14,048	456,472
Excess (Deficit) of Revenue over Expense	1,490,032	323,259	(1,340,425)	(536,309)	(63,444)
•	· •	•		· · ·	
FAA Projects  Crants In Aid Fodoral/State			600.466		600.466
Grants In Aid-Federal/State	-	-	690,466	-	690,466
FAA Projects Expense		-	-	801,044	801,044
Excess (Deficit) of FAA					
Projects Revenue over FAA			600.466	(001.044)	(110 570)
Projects Expense Reserve Designations	<u> </u>	-	690,466	(801,044)	(110,578)
_				600 552	600 553
Infrastructure Projects	-	-	-	600,552	600,552
Property Investments Equipment	-	-	-	190,000	190,000
• •	-	-	-	53,323 5.082	53,323
Noncapital Equipment Employee Benefits	-	-	-	5,082 250,000	5,082 250,000
Total Reserve Designations		-	<u>-</u>		
iotal neserve Designations		-	<u> </u>	1,098,957	1,098,957

# Mojave Air & Space Port Fuel Inventory Report

#### **JANUARY 2022**

JET A		
Beginning Inventory		83,900
Gallons Delivered		
Gallons Purchased		45,921
Defuels		-
Total Gallons Delivered		45,921
Gallons Pumped		
Gallons Sold		53,997
Refuels		-
Tank farm/Line truck sumps		14
Delivery Samples		30
Total Gallons Pumped		54,041
Ending Inventory		75,780
Physical Check		72,613
Inventory Value at	2.76	\$200,411.88

	AVGAS		
Beginning Inventory			10,300
Gallons Delivered			
	Gallons Purchased		-
Gallons Pumped			
	Gallons Sold		2,127
	Tank farm/Line truck sumps		5
	Delivery Samples		2,132
	Total Gallons Pumped		2,132
Ending Inventory			8,168
Physical Check			7,757
Inventory Value at		4.67	\$36,225.19

LUBRICANTS	
Beginning Inventory	170
Quarts Purchased	0
Quarts Sold	5
Ending Inventory	165
Physical Check	173
Aeroshell 100; 100W; 15/50 Multi 125 @ \$5.62; 3@ \$6.02; 45@ \$6.68	\$1,001.30

PRIST	
Beginning Inventory	117
Cans Purchased	0
Cans Sold	0
Ending Inventory	117
Physical Check - Cans	117
Physical Check - Bulk	6.6
117 CANS @ \$7.40; 6.6 (2.3) Gallons @ 120.15	\$2,042.01

UNLEADED FUEL					
Beginning Inventory		873.6			
Gallons Purchased		570.0			
Gallons Used		498.4			
Ending Inventory		945.2			
Physical Check		884.0			
Inventory Value at	\$2.60	\$2,297.52			

	DIESEL FUEL	
Beginning Inventory		904.8
Gallons Purchased		273.0
Gallons Used		306.1
Ending Inventory		871.7
Physical Check		842.4
Inventory Value at	\$2.30	\$1,936.68
Targe at	Ψ=1.00	<b>V</b> 1,000.00

JANUARY 2022 Fuel Inventory

\$243,914.58

January Gallons Sold Year to Date

56,124 464,934

# Mojave Air & Space Port

# **Customers Over 90 Days Past Due**

	1-30 Days	31-60 Days 6	1-90 Days	90+ Days	TOTAL	Comments
Aged AR as of 2/24/2022	272.496.18	9.904.38	10.192.24	0.00	292.592.80	

•	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December
Total Income Total Expenses	\$ 14,393.35 \$ 17,749.37		\$ - \$ -	=======================================	:========	\$ - \$ -	\$ - \$ -	\$ - \$ -	\$ - \$ \$ - \$	- - -	\$ - \$ -	\$ - \$ -
Net Income	\$ (3,356.02)	\$ -	\$ -	\$ - \$	; - :	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ - \$	-	\$ -	\$ -
MEMBERSHIPS	571	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
New Members Cancelled Members Net Change	90 -110 -20	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0	0 0 0

Notes for t JANUARY: Of the 110 cancels, 36 were switched to the new system, 15 went into collections, 11 moved, 5 had no time, 4 had job transfers, 4 joined other gyms, refusing to pay, medical & No reason had 2, and reasons of COVID concerns, equipment @home, and previously cancelled had 1. All other cancels were for other reasons.



FROM: Damian Farrar, Fire Chief

**SUBJECT:** ARFF

**MEETING DATE:** March 1, 2022

#### The Fire Department reports:

Monthly statistics period: 27 Jan 2022 – 25 Feb 2022

FOD checks – 33
Fire Safety Inspections – 3
Fire Extinguisher training – 0
Responses – 19 total

• Hot refuels - 19

Public education – 0

Burn permits -1

Aircraft checkouts – 1 (L1011)

Exercises – 1 simulated smoke in cabin L1011



FROM: Chris Spandorf – Security Chief

**SUBJECT:** Security

**MEETING DATE:** March 1, 2022

Update: January 26<sup>th</sup>, 2022 - February 23rd, 2022.

• Conducted a total of 3,912 facility checks.

- Responded to 31 building alarms.
- Found and secured 28 unlocked or unsecured doors.
- Patrolled a total of 4,157 miles.
- Granted 99 access credentials.
- Removed 47 access credentials.
- No requests for Law Enforcement.
- Catalytic converter thefts.
- Follow up from Test Site 17 anomaly on January 19, 2022.
- Test Site emergency response procedure update.
- Upcoming Law Enforcement K9 training.
- General Aviation Security Gate repairs.
- Production company activity.
- Community watch program.



FROM: Floyd VanWey, Director of Facilities

**SUBJECT: DOF Report** 

**MEETING DATE: March 1, 2022** 

• Facilities Staff have completed 121 work orders for the Month of February. There are currently 117 open work orders as of last week.

- Replacement of the east 18' roll up door on building #5 was completed last week. This has been a long overdue repair and a much-needed improvement for our staff. All installation efforts were completed in house by MASP Facilities.
- Mojave High School Spring Softball season begins today on the MASP field, staff
  have made a huge effort in improving the facility including placing 50 tons of new
  clay on the infield. We will continue to work on improving this asset for the
  community.
- We have received a new order of material to address the GA pavement cracks; staff will be executing additional repairs this week.
- The replacement gate for A-36 in the GA area has arrived and we are in the process of scheduling installation.
- Repairs of the GA restroom are ongoing. The temporary restroom is serviced weekly by our vendor and checked on a regular basis by Facilities Staff.
- 1<sup>st</sup> quarter fire prevention inspections have been completed for buildings 5, 137, and 180. Building 580's inspection was also completed, and serves as the systems Pentennial.



#### **CEO REPORT**

**TO:** MASP Board of Directors

FROM: Todd Lindner MEETING DATE: March 1, 2022

#### **Updates**

- → Director of Operations
- → Contract Tower Program
- → Name Resolution ('and'/'&')
- → GA Development/FAA
- → Runway 12/30
- → Eastside Utilities
- → Stu Witt Aircraft
- → GA Cookout (03/01/2022)
- → Aerospace & Industrial Lunch (03/02/2022)
- → Stratolaunch
- **→** B3K
- → Tenant Agreements
- → Daniel Cueto
- → Property Rented
  - o Masten Master Lease Executed
  - Dept. of General Svcs. (CalFire) Bunker 37, 278 and Land 9 yrs.
  - o Stein Hangar 955 Month to Month
- → Access License
  - O Impulse Space Propulsion Test Site 12 89 Days
  - Paxton Boneyard Special Operations 7 days



# **CEO REPORT**

**Authorized Payments** 

Authorized Payments	1	T	T	1
BOARD MEETING: 3/1/22	DATE	AMOUNT	EFT'S	TOTAL
CEO CHECK REGISTER	2/17/2022	71,748.65		71,748.65
CLO CITECK NEGISTER	2/11/2022	71,740.03		71,740.03
	2/22/2022	79,172.13		79,172.13
	2/22/2022	73,172.13		75,172.15
				_
				-
EFT'S	2/22/2022	_	\$157,057.42	157,057.42
2113	2/22/2022	_	7137,037.42	137,037.42
		150,920.78	157,057.42	307,978.20
		150,920.76	157,057.42	307,976.20
505 00500	0/1/0000	46 =00 00		46 =00 00
BOD CHECK	3/1/2022	16,792.88		16,792.88
	3/1/2022	30,876.62		30,876.62
	3/1/2022	22,879.30		22,879.30
				0
		70,548.80		70,548.80
VOID CHECK				
VOID CHECK				
TOTAL ALL CHECKS & EFT'S				378,527.00

Time: CPANKO User:

# **Mojave Air & Space Port**

#### **Check Register - Standard** Period: 08-22 As of: 2/17/2022

Page: Report: Company:

1 of 4 03630.rpt

MASP

Check Nbr	Check Type	Check Date	Vendor ID Vendor Name	Period To Post Close	Ref ed Nbr	Doc Type	Invoice Number	Invoice Date	Discount Taken	Amount Paid
Company:	MAS	Р								
Acct / Sub: 061904	101000 CK	2/17/2022	1200 0244 American Electrical Services	08-22	050184	VO	S1694-1843	1/31/2022	0.00	1,620.00
061905	СК	2/17/2022	0264 ATI AVIONICS	08-22	050180	VO	4953	9/2/2022	0.00	425.00
061906	СК	2/17/2022	0287 Brown Armstrong Accountancy	08-22	050185	VO	262612	1/30/2022	0.00	617.51
061907	СК	2/17/2022	0365 Consolidated Electrical Distr.	08-22	050165	VO	3978-1022425	2/8/2022	0.00	235.43
061908	СК	2/17/2022	0430 Desert Truck Service Inc.	08-22	050166	VO	1335915	2/2/2022	0.00	64.62
061909	СК	2/17/2022	0479 Aramark	08-22	050160	VO	260000035885	2/4/2022	0.00	49.67
061909	CK	2/17/2022	0479 Aramark	08-22	050161	VO	260000035882	2/4/2022	0.00	156.32
061909	СК	2/17/2022	0479 Aramark	08-22	050162	VO	2600000612	2/11/2022	0.00	62.68
061909	СК	2/17/2022	0479 Aramark	08-22	050163	VO	260000037261	2/11/2022	0.00	210.25
061909	СК	2/17/2022	0479 Aramark	08-22	050164	VO	26000007183	2/11/2022	0.00	93.58
061910	СК	2/17/2022	0582 Environmental Concepts	08-22	050183	VO	221253	Check 12/20/2021	<b>Total</b> 0.00	<b>572.50</b> 1,351.35
061911	СК	2/17/2022	0722 Freeway Smog & Auto Repair	08-22	050168	VO	2695	2/11/2022	0.00	40.00
061912	СК	2/17/2022	0850 Herc Rentals	08-22	050169	VO	32618917-001	2/14/2022	0.00	1,110.43
061913	СК	2/17/2022	0866 The Home Depot Credit Plan	08-22	050196	VO	0122	1/30/2022	0.00	2,717.07

Time: CPANKO User:

# **Mojave Air & Space Port** Check Register - Standard

Period: 08-22 As of: 2/17/2022

Page: Report: Company:

2 of 4 03630.rpt MASP

Check Nbr	Check Type	Check Date	Vendor ID Vendor Name	Period To Post Close	Ref d Nbr	Doc Type	Invoice Number	Invoice Date	Discount Taken	Amount Paid
061914	СК	2/17/2022	0898 IML Security Supply	08-22	050186	VO	3110066	1/24/2022	0.00	180.93
061915	СК	2/17/2022	1138 Kern Machinery	08-22	050187	VO	104-924204	1/4/2022	0.00	3,244.68
061916	СК	2/17/2022	1161 Kern Auto Parts Inc	08-22	050170	VO	961240	2/10/2022	0.00	37.52
061916	CK	2/17/2022	1161 Kern Auto Parts Inc	08-22	050171	VO	961243	2/10/2022	0.00	24.65
061917	СК	2/17/2022	1267 Lowes	08-22	050192	VO	0122	Check To 2/7/2022	<b>otal</b> 0.00	<b>62.17</b> 390.67
061918	СК	2/17/2022	1315 McMaster-Carr	08-22	050189	VO	71888904	1/26/2022	0.00	414.80
061919	СК	2/17/2022	1429 Northern Digital, Inc.	08-22	050190	VO	56635	1/31/2022	0.00	21,540.00
061920	СК	2/17/2022	1570 Otis Elevator Company	08-22	050197	VO	383949	1/17/2022	0.00	8,286.12
061921	СК	2/17/2022	1865 RLH Fire Protection	08-22	050173	VO	0972962	2/4/2022	0.00	974.00
061921	СК	2/17/2022	1865 RLH Fire Protection	08-22	050174	VO	0973022	2/8/2022	0.00	449.00
061922	СК	2/17/2022	1895 Smith Pipe & Supply	08-22	050022	AD	3837809-CM	Check To 12/10/2022	<b>otal</b> 0.00	<b>1,423.00</b> -65.21
061922	CK	2/17/2022	1895 Smith Pipe & Supply	08-22	050175	VO	3855658	2/7/2022	0.00	318.99
061922	СК	2/17/2022	1895 Smith Pipe & Supply	08-22	050176	VO	3856775	2/9/2022	0.00	269.10
061923	СК	2/17/2022	1952 Southern California Edison	08-22	050167	VO	12285395/020922	<b>Check T</b> 2/9/2022	<b>otal</b> 0.00	<b>522.88</b> 20,676.71
061924	СК	2/17/2022	2041 South Street Digital, Inc.	08-22	050181	VO	14131	12/30/2021	0.00	249.13

Time: CPANKO User:

# **Mojave Air & Space Port**

# **Check Register - Standard**

Page: Report: Company:

3 of 4 03630.rpt MASP

Period: 08-22 As of: 2/17/2022

Check Nbr	Check Type	Check Date	Vendor ID Vendor Name	Period To Post Clos	Ref ed Nbr	Doc Type	Invoice Number	Invoice Date	Discount Taken	Amount Paid
061925	CK	2/17/2022	2071 Synchrony Bank	08-22	050191	VO	011322/020422	2/10/2022	0.00	2,591.26
061926	CK	2/17/2022	2193 Velosio LLC	08-22	050179	VO	VEL-02092022	2/9/2022	0.00	702.10
061927	CK	2/17/2022	2253 Waste Management Kern	08-22	050195	VO	0052210-4808-4	2/1/2022	0.00	217.62
061928	CK	2/17/2022	2313 Waxie Sanitary Supply	08-22	050177	VO	80636518	2/1/2022	0.00	1,575.90
061928	CK	2/17/2022	2313 Waxie Sanitary Supply	08-22	050178	VO	80651389	2/7/2022	0.00	71.95
								Chec	k Total	1,647.85
061929	CK	2/17/2022	2450 Xerox Corporation	08-22	050193	VO	015454776/B-1	2/1/2022	0.00	53.99
061929	CK	2/17/2022	2450 Xerox Corporation	08-22	050194	VO	0122	2/1/2022	0.00	160.04
061929	CK	2/17/2022	2450 Xerox Corporation	08-22	050198	VO	504064139	2/3/2022	0.00	279.79
								Chec	k Total	493.82
061930	СК	2/17/2022	4523 Gerardo Perez	08-22	050172	VO	020622	2/6/2022	0.00	117.00
061930	СК	2/17/2022	4523 Gerardo Perez	08-22	050182	VO	12062021	12/6/2021	0.00	117.00
061930	CK	2/17/2022	4523 Gerardo Perez	08-22	050188	VO	010622	1/6/2022	0.00	117.00
								Chec	k Total	351.00
Check Count:		27						Acct Sub Total:		71,748.65

Check Type	Count	Amount Paid
Regular	27	71,748.65
Hand	0	0.00
Electronic Payment	0	0.00
Void	0	0.00
Stub	0	0.00
Zero	0	0.00
Mask	0	0.00
Total:	27	71,748.65

Time: CPANKO User:

# **Mojave Air & Space Port**

# **Check Register - Standard**

Period: 08-22 As of: 2/17/2022

Page: Report: Company:

4 of 4 03630.rpt MASP

Check Nbr	Check Check Type Date	Vendor ID Vendor Name	Period To Post Closed	Ref Nbr	Doc Type	Invoice Number		Invoice Date	Discount Taken	Amount Paid	
				Company Disc To	tal		0.00	Company Total		71,748.65	

Tuesday, February 22, 2022 12:33PM Date:

Time: CPANKO User:

# **Mojave Air & Space Port**

#### Check Register - Standard Period: 08-22 As of: 2/21/2022

Page: Report: Company:

1 of 3 03630.rpt MASP

Check Nbr	Check Type	Check Date	Vendor ID Vendor Name	Period To Post Cl	Ref Nbr	Doc Type	Invoice Number	Invoice Date	Discoun Take	
Company:	MASI	P								
Acct / Sub: 061931	101000 CK	2/21/2022	1200 0000 Loup Logistics Company	08-22	050213	VO	0101238/REFUND	1/24/2022	0.0	21,780.00
061932	СК	2/21/2022	0109 AT&T	08-22	050220	VO	23831139/0222	2/7/2022	0.0	129.93
061932	СК	2/21/2022	0109 AT&T	08-22	050221	VO	34122793/0222	2/7/2022	0.0	129.93
061933	СК	2/21/2022	0276 Braun Gosling, A Law	08-22	050223	VO	2102	2/14/2022	Check Total	<b>259.86</b> 750.50
061934	СК	2/21/2022	0350 Clarks Pest Control	08-22	050225	VO	30155261/0222	2/15/2022	0.00	123.00
061934	CK	2/21/2022	0350 Clarks Pest Control	08-22	050226	VO	30036922/0222	2/21/2022	0.0	52.00
061934	CK	2/21/2022	0350 Clarks Pest Control	08-22	050227	VO	30036924/0222	2/15/2022	0.0	88.00
061934	СК	2/21/2022	0350 Clarks Pest Control	08-22	050228	VO	30036923/0222	2/15/2022	0.0	51.00
061935	СК	2/21/2022	0396 CDW Government	08-22	050224	VO	R650775	2/2/2022	Check Total	<b>314.00</b> 539.52
061936	СК	2/21/2022	0479 Aramark	08-22	050222	VO	260000038673	2/18/2022	0.0	75.77
061936	CK	2/21/2022	0479 Aramark	08-22	050255	VO	260000037265	2/11/2022	0.0	73.67
061936	CK	2/21/2022	0479 Aramark	08-22	050261	VO	260000038685	2/18/2022	0.0	9.67
061936	СК	2/21/2022	0479 Aramark	08-22	050262	VO	260000038684	2/18/2022	0.0	156.32
061937	СК	2/21/2022	0773 Grainger	08-22	050232	VO	9198273147	2/1/2022	Check Total 0.0	<b>355.43</b> 0 66.07
061938	СК	2/21/2022	1178 Kimley-Horn and Associates, Ir	08-22 nc.	050214	VO	096541103-0122	1/31/2022	0.0	6,015.17

Tuesday, February 22, 2022 12:33PM Date:

Time: CPANKO User:

# **Mojave Air & Space Port**

**Check Register - Standard** Period: 08-22 As of: 2/21/2022

Page: Report: Company:

2 of 3 03630.rpt MASP

Check Nbr	Check Type	Check Date	Vendor ID Vendor Name	Perio To Post	Ref Nbr	Doc Type	Invoice Number	Invoice Date	Discount Taken	Amount Paid
061939	CK	2/21/2022	1179 Kingsley Glass	08-22	050234	VO	56867/29355	3/18/2021	0.00	415.00
061940	СК	2/21/2022	1200 L & L Construction	08-22	050235	VO	WE 2.13.22	2/13/2022	0.00	1,125.00
061941	CK	2/21/2022	1314 Mead & Hunt	08-22	050212	VO	327884/ENG	2/16/2022	0.00	731.79
061942	CK	2/21/2022	1436 Porter Concrete Construction	08-22	050236	VO	4739	2/16/2022	0.00	8,447.00
061942	СК	2/21/2022	1436 Porter Concrete Construction	08-22	050237	VO	4740	2/16/2022	0.00	4,303.00
061942	CK	2/21/2022	1436 Porter Concrete Construction	08-22	050238	VO	4741	2/16/2022	0.00	7,845.00
061943	СК	2/21/2022	1614 Kernprint Services	08-22	050233	VO	48377	2/15/2022	Check Total 0.00	<b>20,595.00</b> 294.78
061944	СК	2/21/2022	1626 Petro Lock, Inc.	08-22	050239	VO	216056	2/17/2022	0.00	2,437.50
061945	СК	2/21/2022	1925 Sparkletts	08-22	050240	VO	13703338 021722	2/17/2022	0.00	1,006.55
061946	СК	2/21/2022	1952 Southern California Edison	08-22	050229	VO	616545683/0222	2/16/2022	0.00	1,558.19
061946	СК	2/21/2022	1952 Southern California Edison	08-22	050230	VO	196090594/0222	2/16/2022	0.00	95.81
061946	CK	2/21/2022	1952 Southern California Edison	08-22	050231	VO	12285395/0222	2/17/2022	0.00	9,318.19
061947	СК	2/21/2022	1954 Southern California Gas	08-22	050215	VO	45997/B-1 0122	1/18/2022	Check Total 0.00	<b>10,972.19</b> 1,756.93
061947	CK	2/21/2022	1954 Southern California Gas	08-22	050216	VO	545001/TOWER	1/18/2022	0.00	1,302.64
061947	CK	2/21/2022	1954 Southern California Gas	08-22	050217	VO	45767/B-5	1/18/2022	0.00	1,104.02
061947	CK	2/21/2022	1954 Southern California Gas	08-22	050218	VO	63938/BLDG 137	1/18/2022	0.00	989.24
061947	CK	2/21/2022	1954 Southern California Gas	08-22	050256	VO	11545997/0222	2/16/2022	0.00	1,025.52

Tuesday, February 22, 2022 12:33PM Date:

19

Time: CPANKO User:

Check Count:

# **Mojave Air & Space Port**

**Check Register - Standard** Period: 08-22 As of: 2/21/2022

Page: Report: Company:

3 of 3 03630.rpt MASP

79,172.13

Check Nbr	Check Type	Check Date	Vendor ID Vendor Name	Period To Post Closed	Ref Nbr	Doc Type	Invoice Number	Invoice Date	Discount Taken	Amount Paid
061947	CK	2/21/2022	1954 Southern California Gas	08-22	050257	VO	61545001/0222	2/16/2022	0.00	1,123.03
061947	CK	2/21/2022	1954 Southern California Gas	08-22	050258	VO	31545767/0222	2/16/2022	0.00	109.22
061947	CK	2/21/2022	1954 Southern California Gas	08-22	050259	VO	89363938/0222	2/16/2022	0.00	1,057.08
				-				Check	Total	8,467.68
061948	CK	2/21/2022	2136 UNUM Life Ins. Co.	08-22	050260	VO	030122	2/22/2022	0.00	2,777.34
061949	СК	2/21/2022	2193 Velosio LLC	08-22	050241	VO	IN100-00066899	2/15/2022	0.00	268.75

Check Type	Count	Amount Paid
Regular	19	79,172.13
Hand	0	0.00
Electronic Payment	0	0.00
Void	0	0.00
Stub	0	0.00
Zero	0	0.00
Mask	0	0.00
Total:	19	79,172.13

79,172.13 **Company Disc Total** 0.00 **Company Total** 

Acct Sub Total:



# Electronic Fund Transfers February 9 through February 22, 2022

Date		Amount
2/9/2022	ACH DEBIT CLOVER APP CLOVER	\$39.95
2/11/2022	ACH DEBIT CDTFA EPMT CA DEPT TAX FEE	\$6,112.00
2/11/2022	ACH DEBIT HRS PMT PAYCHEX-HRS	\$57.00
2/14/2022	ACH DEBIT CDTFA EPMT CA DEPT TAX FEE	\$268.00
2/15/2022	WIRE TRANSFER FEE	\$15.00
2/16/2022	ACH DEBIT EFTTRANSFE AVFUEL	\$22,799.60
2/17/2022	ACH DEBIT PAYROLL PAYCHEX	\$56,322.64
2/17/2022	ACH DEBIT GARNISH PAYCHEX	\$48.96
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT EFTTRANSFE AVFUEL	\$24,264.74
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT TAXES PAYCHEX TPS	\$11,464.30
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT 3100 CALPERS	\$9,076.51
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT 3100 CALPERS	\$8,612.83
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT ACH PMT AMEX EPAYMENT	\$4,943.01
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT ACH PMT AMEX EPAYMENT	\$3,689.32
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT 3100 CALPERS	\$3,134.03
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT 3100 CALPERS	\$3,134.03
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT INVOICE PAYCHEX	\$802.60
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT CDTFA EPMT CA DEPT TAX FEE	\$606.00
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT INVESTMENT DSTRS	\$325.00
2/18/2022	ACH DEBIT INVESTMENT DSTRS	\$250.00
2/22/2022	MEMO DEBIT : DSTRS INVESTMENT ACH Entry	\$250.00
2/22/2022	MEMO DEBIT : DSTRS INVESTMENT ACH Entry	\$325.00
2/22/2022	MEMO DEBIT : PAYCHEX-OAB INVOICE	\$516.90

Total \$157,057.42